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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2012
OR

00 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-35375

Zynga Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)

Delaware 42-1733483
(State of Incorporation) (IRS Employer Identification No.)

699 Eighth Street

San Francisco, CA 94103
(Address of Principal Executive Offices, (Zip Code)

(855) 449-9642
(Telephone No.)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports) and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lsstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥atb site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRiie 405 of Regulation S-T during the precedigribnths (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post §ilet). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file [J Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 22b- Yes [ No

As of October 15, 2012, there were 583,862,093eshaf the Registrant’s Class A common stock outtay) 179,596,824 shares of the
Registrant’s Class B common stock outstanding &817,472 shares of the Registrant’s Class C constamk outstanding.
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Zynga, the Zynga logo and other trademarks or senviarks of Zynga appearing in this report areptioperty of Zynga. Trade names,
trademarks and service marks of other companiesaaio in this report are the property of theipexgive holders.

References in this report to “DAUS” mean daily aetusers of our games, “MAUs” mean monthly actisera of our games, “MUUS”
mean monthly unique users of our games, “ABPU” rsemrerage daily bookings per average DAU and “MURsan monthly unique payers
of our games. Unless otherwise indicated, theseicaetre based on internally-derived measuremamtsa all platforms on which our games
are played. For further information about ABPU, D&AWAUs, MUPs, and MUUs as measured by us, sesdtition titled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operatio—Key Metrics”
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forwimaking statements. In some cases you can idetitifye statements by forward-
looking words such as “believe,” “may,” “will,” “égnate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “could “would,” “project,” “plan,” “expect,” or
similar expressions, or the negative or plurahese words or expressions. These forward-lookiagstents include, but are not limited to,
statements concerning the following:

” i, ” o ” o« ”ou ” o« ” o« ” o« ” o

» our future relationship with Facebook, changeheRacebook platform or changes in our agreemditisfacebook

» our cost reduction plans and reduction in force @stidnated savings and charg

« our ability to rationalize our product pipelinedtee marketing and technology expenditures andotioiase certain facilities
e our share repurchase progre

» our evaluation of new business opportunities, idicig our expansion into real money gami

» user traffic to the Zynga platform and publishiregrges from thir-party developers on the Zynga platfol

e continued growth in demand for virtual goods anthia social games industi

* building and sustaining our franchise gan

» the ability of our games to generate revenue awtihgs for a significant period of time after latrend the timing for market
acceptance of new gam

» capital expenditures and investment in our netviridastructure, including data cente
» our use of working capital in gener
» retaining and adding players and increasing theatimation of our player bas

* maintaining a technology infrastructure that cdicieintly and reliably handle increased player wsdgst load times and the
deployment of new features and produ

» attracting and retaining qualified employees andpersonnel

* maintaining, protecting and enhancing our intellatproperty:

« protecting our playe’ information and adequately addressing privacy corgenc
» successfully acquiring and integrating companiebassets

These forward-looking statements are subject toraber of risks, uncertainties and assumptionsudinb those described in “Part II.
Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this Quarterly Report®orm 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a very competitind rapidly changing environment
and industry. We are also highly reliant on Facétaud the Facebook platform for a substantial arhofiour revenue. The Facebook platfc
and our agreements with Facebook are subject togeh@New risks emerge from time to time. It is possible for our management to predict
all of the risks related to our business and opmrat nor can we assess the impact of all factorsur business or the extent to which any
factor, or combination of factors, may cause aatesililts to differ materially from those containediny forward-looking statements we may
make. In light of these risks, uncertainties arsliagptions, the forward-looking events and circumsta discussed in this Quarterly Report or
Form 10-Q may not occur and actual results codférdinaterially and adversely from those anticipabe implied in the forward-looking
statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statemeagspredictions of future events. Although we halithat the expectations reflected
in the forward-looking statements are reasonabéecannot guarantee that the future results, lefastivity, performance or events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-lookingestagnts will be achieved or occur. We undertakebiligation to update any forward-looking
statements for any reason to conform these statsrteactual results or to changes in our expextati

1
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value)

(Unaudited)
September 3(C December 31
2012 2011
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 394,35¢ $1,582,34.
Marketable securitie 928,68 225,16!
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $161 abéB$at September 30, 20 105,60: 135,63:
and December 31, 2011, respectiv
Income tax receivabl 6,76¢ 18,58:
Deferred tax asse 34,05¢ 23,51t
Restricted cas 28,59¢ 3,84¢
Other current asse 37,24* 34,82¢
Total current asse 1,535, 30. 2,023,90!
Long-term marketable securitit 325,26 110,09¢
Goodwill 209,78: 91,76!
Other intangible assets, r 39,52( 32,11:
Property and equipment, r 488,10¢ 246,74(
Restricted cas — 4,082
Other lon¢-term asset 7,51t 7,94(
Total asset $2,605,49; $2,516,64
Liabilities and stockholde’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 37,57 $ 44,02
Other current liabilitie: 146,12t 167,27:
Deferred revenu 390,03: 457,39:
Total current liabilities 573,72 668,68!
Long-term debi 100,00( —
Deferred revenu 6,86¢ 23,25
Deferred tax liabilities 13,32« 13,95(
Other nor-current liabilities 57,84" 61,22:
Total liabilities 751,76t 767,10°
Stockholder' equity:
Common stock, $.00000625 par value, and additipaa in capita- authorized share
2,020,517; shares outstanding: 780,436 sharesq@las80,180, Class B, 179,739, Class C, 20,519f as
September 30, 2012 and 721,592 (Class A, 121,38%$s®, 579,694, Class C, 20,517) as of
December 31, 201 2,692,82 2,426,16
Treasury stocl (283,31) (282,89
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li (803%) 362
Accumulated defici (554,98 (394,099
Total stockholder equity 1,853,73; 1,749,53
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $2,605,49; $2,516,64

See accompanying notes.
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Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
2012 2011 2012 2011
Revenue
Online game $285,58° $287,86t $ 869,91! $781,73!
Advertising 31,05( 18,96: 100,18’ 47,12¢
Total revenue 316,63° 306,82¢ 970,10: 828,86:
Costs and expense
Cost of revenu 90,15( 80,17( 275,11 225,90t
Research and developmt 155,60¢ 114,80¢ 513,80: 282,31¢
Sales and marketir 36,58¢ 43,711 149,47¢ 121,97:
General and administrati 35,35 36,39t 156,79¢ 117,72:
Impairment of intangible asse 95,49: — 95,49: —
Total costs and expens 413,19: 275,09: 1,190,68: 747,91¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (96,559 31,73¢ (220,58) 80,94¢
Interest incom 1,144 262 3,51¢ 1,22
Other income (expense), r (350 263 19,75¢ (279)
Income (loss) before income tax (95,760) 32,26: (197,309 81,89:
(Provision for) benefit from income tax 43,03¢ (19,729 36,41% (51,206
Net income (loss $(52,725H $ 12,54( $ (160,88) $ 30,68¢
Net income attributable to participating securi — 12,54( — 30,68¢
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhis $(52,72f% $ — $(160,88) $ —
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholder:
Basic $ (00 $ o00C 9 (0.22) $ 0.0C
Diluted $ (00 $ o00C $ (022 $ 0.0C
Weighted average common shares used to compubecoete (loss) per share
attributable to common stockholde
Basic 754,86: 271,51 729,18 264,11:
Diluted 754,86: 271,51 729,18 264,11:

See accompanying notes.
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Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
2012 2011 2012 2011
Net income (loss $(52,72F) $12,54( $(160,88) $30,68¢
Other comprehensive income (los
Change in foreign currency translation adjustn 68¢ 54C 43€ 50¢
Net change on unrealized gains (losses) on ave-for-sale investments, net of t 97¢ 34 98¢ (75)
Net change on unrealized gains (losses) on der&aistrument: (2,589 — (2,589 —
Other comprehensive income (los (917) 574 (1,16%) 434
Comprehensive income (los: $(53,647) $13,11¢ $(162,05) $31,12:

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Operating activitie:
Net income (loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mesthcprovided by operating activitie

Depreciation and amortizatic
Stoclk-based expens
Loss from sales of investments, assets and otht
Net gain on termination of lease and purchase ivding
Tax benefits from sto-based award
Excess tax benefits from stc-based award
Accretion and amortization on marketable secur
Deferred income taxe
Impairment of intangible asse
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Income tax receivabl
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi
Sales of marketable securiti
Maturities of marketable securiti
Purchase of corporate headquarters buil
Acquisition of property and equipme
Acquisition of purchased technology and other igtle asset
Business acquisition, net of cash acqu
Proceeds from sale of investm
Restricted cas
Other investing activities, ni
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activitie:
Proceeds from debt, net of issuance ¢
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of yquitirds
Repurchases of common stock and warr
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and was
Proceeds from employee stock purchase
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred s
Excess tax benefits from stc-based award
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casba&ts
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe

See accompanying notes.

Nine Months Ended

September 30

2012 2011
$ (160,88) $ 30,68¢
108,04¢ 64,14¢
267,12: 70,24
(161) (1,38()
(19,886 -
5,68( —
(5,680) 2,03(
12,05¢ 2,22
(58,39)) —
95,49: —
35,06¢ (39,276
11,81¢ 32,62(
8,92( (22,114
(7,040 18,83¢
(83,749 20,13¢
(32,43() 47,05(
175,98t 225,21:
(1,527,32) (512,56
150,11 12,62(
441,69¢ 725,31!
(233,700 —
(91,809 (187,730
(3,199 (3,717)
(205,51() (37,95)
— 2,04¢
6,53¢ (7,689
937 (916€)
(1,462,24) (10,579
99,78( —
(26,069 -
— (283,77()
14,29( 2,231
4,48¢ —
— 485,30(
5,68( (2,030
98,17( 201,73:
99 19
(1,187,98) 416,38«
1,582,34. 187,83:
$ 394,35¢ $ 604,21!
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Zynga Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1. Overview and Summary of Significant Accounting Blicies
Organization and Description of Business

Zynga Inc. (“Zynga,” “we” or “the Company'fevelops, markets and operates online social gasge services played over the Inte
and on social networking sites and mobile platforie generate revenue through the in-game saletolgoods and through advertising.
Our operations are headquartered in San Frand@adifornia, and we have several operating locatiartee U.S. as well as various
international office locations in Canada, Asia &wtope.

We were originally organized in April 2007 as aifahia limited liability company under the nameeBidio Media LLC, converted to a
Delaware corporation in October 2007 and changedame to Zynga Inc. in November 2010. We compleigdinitial public offering in
December 2011 and our Class A common stock igllistethe NASDAQ Global Select Market under the sghiBNGA.”

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemamggpresented in accordance with United Statesrginaccepted accounting
principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated finaniciiatements include the operations of us and dwllyrowned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in the consolidation.

Accounting Policy Updates

The accompanying interim consolidated financialesteents and these related notes should be reashjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes includemiimAnnual Report on Form 10-K for the year endeg@nber 31, 2011 (the “Annual
Report”).

In the second quarter of 2012, we established iaypfr accounting for derivative financial instremts used to manage interest rate risk
We account for these instruments in accordance Adgttounting Standards Codification (*“ASC”) 81Berivatives and Hedgingwhich
requires that every derivative instrument be reedran the balance sheet as either an asset dityiabéasured at its fair value as of the
reporting date. ASC 815 also requires that chairgesr derivativesfair values be recognized in earnings, unless péeidge accounting a
contemporaneous documentation criteria are methioh case, the change in fair value related tceffective portion of the hedge may be
recognized as a component of accumulated other mapsive income. Any ineffective or excluded portdof a designated cash flow hedge is
recognized in earnings. There have been no otpeifisant changes to our accounting policies thatendisclosed in our Annual Report that
impact our consolidated financial statements atated notes.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The accompanying interim consolidated balance sieef September 30, 2012, the interim consolidstaments of operations for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 20120drid the interim consolidated statements of cohmmsive income (loss) for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and ##ihterim consolidated statements of cash flawdle nine months ended
September 30, 2012 and 2011 and the related faothstlosures are unaudited. These unauditednmferancial statements have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In managésiepinion, the unaudited interim financial statarts have been prepared on the same
basis as the audited financial statements anddedill adjustments of a normal recurring natureeesary for the fair presentation of the
Company’s statement of financial position and ofiegaresults for the periods presented. The re$ottthe three and nine months ended
September 30, 2012 are not necessarily indicafileeoresults expected for the full fiscal yeamaay future period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make egtand assumptions that af
the reported amounts in the consolidated finarstatements and notes thereto. Significant estinsatdsassumptions reflected in the financial
statements include, but are not limited to, thavested lives of virtual goods that we use for rax@necognition, the chargeback reserve for ot
third-party payment processors, the allowance éahbdful accounts, useful lives of property and pquént and intangible assets, accrued
liabilities, income taxes, accounting for businesmbinations, stock-based expense and evaluatigoaafwill, intangible assets, and lolged
assets for impairment. Actual results could diffeaterially from those estimates.

6
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2. Marketable Securities

The following tables summarize our amortized cgriss unrealized gains and losses and fair valogoévailable-for-sale investments
in marketable securities (in thousands):

September 30, 201.

(unaudited)
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealizec
Amortized Aggregate
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and government agency debt sexsuriti $ 549,21: $ 28t $ (6) $ 549,49(
Corporate debt securitis 702,16: 83t (221) 702,77¢
Municipal securitie! 1,68t — — 1,68t
Total $1,253,060 $ 1,12C $ (227)  $1,253,95
December 31, 201
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealizec
Amortized Aggregate
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and government agency debt sexsuriti $ 267,63 $ 53 $ (B3 $ 267,63
Corporate debt securitis 67,65’ 35 (64) 67,62¢
Total $ 3329 $ 88 $ (117) $ 335,26

The estimated fair value of available-feate marketable securities, classified by theitremtual maturities was as follows (in thousan

September 30, 201

(unaudited)
Due within one yea $ 928,68:
After one year through three yei 325,26
Total $ 1,253,95

Changes in market interest rates and bond yieldseceertain of our investments to fall below tleist basis, resulting in unrealized
losses on marketable securities. As of Septemhe2@®I®, we had unrealized losses of $0.2 millidateel to marketable securities that had a
fair value of $353.1 million. As of December 31,120 we had unrealized losses of $0.1 million relatemarketable securities that had a fair
value of $111.1 million. None of these securitiegavin a continuous unrealized loss position forertban 12 months.

As of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 201djdveot consider any of our marketable securitielse other-than-temporarily
impaired. When evaluating our investments for cthan-temporary impairment, we review factors saslthe length of time and extent to
which fair value has been below its cost basisfitrencial condition of the issuer, our ability aiment to hold the security and whether it is
more likely than not that we will be required tdl siee investment before recovery of its cost basis

3. Fair Value Measurements

Our financial instruments consist of cash equivisleshort-term and long-term marketable securiiespunts receivable, long-term debt
and an interest rate swap. Accounts receivable anetstated at their carrying value, which apprates fair value due to the short time to
expected receipt of cash.
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Cash equivalents and short-term and lterga marketable securities, consisting of moneyketaiunds, U.S. government and governn
agency debt securities, municipal securities amdarate debt securities, are carried at fair vallgch is defined as an exit price, representing
the amount that would be received to sell an asseaid to transfer a liability in an orderly tracsion between knowledgeable and willing
market participants. The carrying value of long¥tatebt approximates fair value, which is primakibsed on valuation models, using the net
present value of cash flows over the term usinigneseéd market rates for similar instruments andaiemg terms (Level 3). These valuation
techniques involve some level of management estimaind judgment, the degree of which is dependemtrice transparency for the
instruments or market and the instruments’ compfexi

Interest rate swaps are estimated using expecterkfoash flows related to our interest rate swapement, appropriately discounted
considering the uncertainties associated with thigation, and as calculated in accordance witht¢hms of the loan agreement and interest
rate swap agreement. We determine the fair valuweiointerest rate swap by comparing the futurealisted cash flows of the swap agreer
based on its stated rate to the future discourdsHt flows based on current market interest rates.

Intangible assets that have been impaired areifotabas Level 3 due to unobservable inputs thatfactored into our income-based
valuation analysis. The primary input in determinfair value of intangible assets was the estimatatiscounted future cash flows associated
with those assets.

Fair value is a market-based measurement thataheutietermined based on assumptions that knowdetlgand willing market
participants would use in pricing an asset or lighiWe use a three-tier value hierarchy, whicloptizes the inputs used in measuring fair
value as follows:

Level 1 — Observable inputs that reflect quotedesi(unadjusted) for identical assets or liabgitireactive markets.
Level 2 — Includes inputs, other than Level 1 irptibat are directly or indirectly observable ie tharketplace.
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supportetlitthy or no market activity.

The composition of our financial instruments and iowpaired intangible assets among the three Lenfelse fair value hierarchy are as
follows (in thousands):

September 30, 201.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(unaudited)
Assets:
Money market fund $239,53. $ — $ — $ 239,53
U.S. government and government agency debt sexs — 549,49: — 549,49:
Corporate debt securities ( — 734,58( — 734,58(
Municipal securities (1 — 2,23t — 2,23t
OMGPOP intangible asse — — 5,30( 5,30(
Total $239,53: $1,286,30! $ 5,30( $1,531,13!
Liabilities:
Long-term debt $ — $ — $100,00( $ 100,00(
Interest rate swa — 2,781 — 2,781
Total $ — $ 2,781 $100,00( $ 102,78:

(1) Includes amounts classified as cash and cash deuis:

December 31, 201

Level 1 Level 2 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Money market fund $1,37591 $§ — $— $1,375,91
U.S. government and government agency debt sexs — 267,63! — 267,63!
Corporate debt securiti — 68,33¢ — 68,33¢
Total $1,375,91. $335,96¢ $— $1,711,88
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4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingtfiousands):

September 3C December 31
2012 2011
(unaudited)
Computer equipmet $ 299,15: $ 243,98t
Software 28,97: 25,11¢
Land 89,13( —
Building 189,84 —
Furniture and fixture 13,62: 9,47¢
Leasehold improvemen 20,43: 67,45¢
641,14¢ 346,03!
Less accumulated depreciati (153,039 (99,295
Total property and equipment, t $ 488,10! $ 246,74

Acquisition of Corporate Headquarters Buildi

On April 2, 2012, we purchased our corporate headqts building located in San Francisco, Califarfinom 650 Townsend
Associates, LLC to support the overall growth of business. Pursuant to the agreement, we alsdradagxisting third-party leases and other
intangible property and terminated our existingoafleases with the seller. In accordance with 886, Business Combinationsve accounte
for the building purchase as a business combinaiibe purchase consideration for the corporatedugmters building was as follows (in
thousands, unaudited):

Cash $ 233,701
Gain on termination of belc-market leas: 41,05¢
Total purchase considerati $274,75!

The gain on the termination of the below-markeséegepresents the difference between the conttaninamum rental payments
owed under our previously-existing leases and thekat rates of those same leases. The followinig ®bmmarizes the fair values of net
tangible and intangible assets acquired (in thadsamaudited):

Building $ 182,77
Land 89,00(
Acquired lease intangible 2,98¢
Total $274,75¢

In addition to the gain recognized on the termoratf the below-market lease, we recognized a g#25.1 million from the
write-off of deferred rent liability and we recoged a loss of $46.2 million resulting from the w#itff of leasehold improvements, as any vi
ascribed to these leasehold improvements werecteflén the fair value of the net tangible andngihle assets acquired. These amounts hav
been included in other income (expense), net irconsolidated statements of operations.

We have included the rental income from third p#fses with other tenants in the building, andottogortionate share of building
expenses for those leases, in other income (experetein our consolidated results of operationgnfthe date of acquisition. These amounts
were not material for the periods presented. Tleéulisife for the building is expected to be 39 geeand is being amortized on a straight-line
basis.

5. Acquisitions

Acquisition of OMGPOP On March 21, 2012, we acquired 100% of the onthtey stock of OMGPOP, Inc., a provider of sociamgs
for mobile phones, tablets, PCs and social netwitéls, for purchase consideration of approxima$&®3.1 million in cash. We acquired
OMGPOP to expand our social games offerings, pdatity on mobile platforms. Goodwill from the acsgition

9
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represents the excess of the purchase price owéaithvalue of the net tangible and intangibleséssicquired and is not deductible for tax
purposes. Goodwill recorded in connection with #aguisition is primarily attributable to the as&ded workforce of the acquired business
expected synergies at the time of the acquisition.

Other Acquisitions During the nine months ended September 30, 20@ 2cquired 4 companies in addition to OMGPOP for a
aggregate purchase price of $24.1 million, all bfal was paid in cash.

The following table summarizes the purchase datevédue of net tangible and intangible assets aeduor all business acquisitions for
the nine months ended September 30, 2012 (in thdssanaudited):

OMGPOP
1 Other Total
Developed technology $ 83,59( $14,37¢ $ 97,96¢
Branding intangible asse 33,53( — 33,53(
Deferred tax liabilities (42,877 (3,90%) (46,77¢)
Net tangible assets acquired (liabilities assun 5,05¢ 40C 5,45¢
Goodwill 103,78: 13,21« 116,99¢
Total $183,08t $24,08t¢ $207,17:

(1) Includes the impact of adjustments to goodrediulting from changes in net assets (liabiliteejuired and other adjustments, pursuant t
our business combinations polic

Prior to the impairment of the developed technolagg branding intangible assets acquired in the ®8B acquisition, the useful lives
for the developed technology and branding intamgésisets were three years and seven years, resphecdubsequent to the impairment, the
remaining useful lives of both the developed tedbgyp and branding intangible assets are two yddrese assets were, and continue to be,
amortized on a straight-line basis. For all acdjoiss completed during the nine months ended SdmeR0, 2012, the weightedrerage usefi
life of all identified acquired intangible asses?i4 years. Developed technologies associatedaeghisitions are being amortized over per
ranging from one to three years.

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying value of goodwill from Dmber 31, 2011 to September 30, 2012 are as folfowthousands, unaudited):

Goodwill- December 31, 201 $ 91,76¢
Additions 117,54:
Foreign currency translation adjustme 33¢
Goodwill adjustment 13€
Goodwill - September 30, 201 $209,78:

Amortization expense of acquisition-related intdmgiassets for the three months ended Septemb@030,and 2011 was $13.5
million and $6.9 million, respectively. Amortizatiexpense of acquisition-related intangible adeete nine months ended September 30,
2012 and 2011 was $35.0 million and $19.1 milli@spectively. As of September 30, 2012, future &maiion expense related to the
intangible assets is expected to be recognizeti@grsbelow (in thousands, unaudited):

Year ending December 3

2012 $ 5,61«
2013 12,23(
2014 7,311
2015 3,29¢
2016 and thereaftt 167
Total $28,61°

10
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In the third quarter of 2012, we made the decisiodiscontinue development of certain games astgatigith technology and other
intangible assets previously acquired from OMGPO#®. updated financial forecast as of Septembe230? indicated a reduction of
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generatedtfiese intangible assets, and we therefore peefan impairment analysis. We
determined the estimated fair value of these assédis $95.5 million lower than their carrying valas of September 30, 2012. Accordingly
recorded this amount as an impairment charge irtonsolidated statements of operations.

7. Income Taxes

The benefit from income taxes was $43.0 million &8@.4 million in the three and nine months endept&mber 30, 2012, respectively.
The income tax expense for the three and nine rs@mted September 30, 2012 was impacted by aégnssithe OMGPOP impairment
charge, the costs of implementing our internatiataicture, and the valuation allowance offsettirqgprtion of our net deferred tax assets.

For the foreseeable future, we expect that ouct¥e tax rate will be impacted by additional tagpense associated with the
implementation of our international tax structunel ahe deductibility of stock-based expense. Adrifdementation of our international tax
structure is completed, we anticipate that ourctiffe tax rate will be lower than the U.S. statytmate.

8. Long-term Debt and Derivative Financial Instruments

On June 29, 2012, we entered into an agreemeattiEmm loan of $100 million due June 30, 2017, @réable interest rate equal to the
bank’s prime rate, or at our election, the thresimmonth LIBOR plus a 0.75 percent credit spréztective July 3, 2012, we made a
permanent election to use the three month LIBOR plid5 percent credit spread. Interest paymenthade quarterly and the three month
LIBOR will reset once per quarter. The amounts dwed are collateralized by our corporate headqrsabigilding. The loan will be used for
general corporate purposes and we may prepayrmddan in full or in part at any time.

Concurrent with the execution of the loan agreentergliminate variability in interest payments, amered into an interest rate swap
agreement, such that the interest rate is fixedi@percent. The critical terms of the interesé mwap agreement and the $100 million term
match, including the notional and principal amoupts/ment dates, interest rate reset dates, matlaieés and underlying benchmark interest
rates. Accordingly, we have designated the inteastswap as a qualifying hedging instrument amdanted for it as a cash flow hedge in
accordance with ASC 81Berivatives and Hedginglf the hedged transactions become probable oboatrring, the corresponding amounts
in accumulated other comprehensive income woulekblassified to other income (expense), net incamsolidated statements of operations.

The fair value of the interest rate swap was $2lBom as of September 30, 2012 and was recordeddarconsolidated balance sheets in
other current and non-current liabilities. We ity record the gain or loss on the effective portof the hedge as a component of accumulate
other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequerdligssify it to interest expense in other incomeeénse), net when the hedged transactic
occurs. If the hedged transactions were to becawigaple of not occurring, the corresponding amoium&écumulated other comprehensive
income would be reclassified to other income (espgmet. As of September 30, 2012, we expectdassify approximately $0.9 million net
from accumulated other comprehensive income (logs)other income (expense), net in the next 12thmralong with the earnings impact of
the related forecasted hedged transactions. Theinechimpact of the variable interest paymentstaednterest rate swap is expected to resu
in $500 thousand of interest expense per quanter two percent effective interest rate, over ifeedf the debt. We do not use the interest rate
swap agreement for trading purposes and our inteatessswap agreement does not require us to ptateral.

9. Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilities consist of the followifip thousands):

September 3C December 31
2012 2011
(unaudited)
Customer deposi $ 30,557 $ 50,14
Accrued escrow for acquisitiol 32,48: 7,24:
Other 83,08: 109,88
Total other current liabilitie $ 146,12 $ 167,27:
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Customer deposits represent amounts received fedaamed game cards as well as advanced paymemtsdrious customers. Accru
escrow from acquisitions mainly relates to amotnatsl in escrow under the terms of certain of oguésition agreements. Other liabilities
include various expenses that we accrue for traiosataxes, compensation liabilities and accruembants payable.
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10. Stockholders’ Equity

We recorded stockased expense related to grants of employee arsdiitant stock options, warrants, restricted stouk restricted stoc
units (“ZSUs") in our consolidated statements ofigtions as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 2012 2011
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Cost of revenu $ 1,08( $ 51t $ 11,09¢ $ 1,60z
Research and developmt 41,85: 16,75: 185,24! 40,69:
Sales and marketir (3,97%) 2,33( 21,15¢ 10,10:
General and administrati (1,139 3,027 49,62¢ 17,84¢
Total stocl-based expens $ 37,81 $ 2262« $ 267,12« $ 70,24

Negative amounts reflect the reversal of stock-th&sg@ense previously recognized for ZSUs undeatiteleratedittribution method thi
were unvested at the time of employee termination.

The following table shows stock option activity the nine months ended September 30, 2012 (in #maiss except weighted-average
exercise price and remaining contractual term):

Outstanding Options

Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
Intrinsic Value of Average
Average Contractual Term
Exercise Stock Options
Stock Options Price Outstanding (in years)
(unaudited)
Balance as of December 31, 2( 102,31« $ 0.6¢ $ 892,13! 7.04
Grantec 29,40: 2.8C
Forfeited and cancelle (5,779 0.9¢
Exercisec (32,83¢) 0.3€
Balance as of September 30, 2( 93,10¢ $ 1.4¢ $ $128,44i 8.17

The following table shows a summary of ZSU actifdythe nine months ended September 30, 2012¢usands, except weighted-
average fair value and remaining term):

Outstanding ZSUs

Weighted-
Aggregate Weighted-
Average Intrinsic Value of Average
Grant Remaining Term
Date Fair Unvested
Shares Value ZSUs (in years)
(unaudited)
Unvested as of December 31, 2( 79,81¢ $ 11.2¢ $  751,09( 2.1t
Grantec 25,36 9.2¢
Vested (23,13() 11.4¢
Forfeited and cancelle (16,269 12.07
Unvested as of September 30, 2| 65,78: $ 10.1¢ $ 186,49 2.64

13
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11. Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock

We compute net income (loss) per share of commmk sising the twalass method required for participating securitiérsor to the dat
of the initial public offering, we considered adlries of our convertible preferred stock to beipgating securities due to their non-cumulative
dividend rights. Additionally, we consider shargsued upon the early exercise of options subje@porchase and unvested restricted sha
be participating securities, because holders di shares have non-forfeitable dividend rights melient we declare a dividend for common
shares. In accordance with the two-class methddnoeme allocated to these participating secug;itrghich include participation rights in
undistributed net income, is subtracted from nebime (loss) to determine total net income (los$)et@llocated to common stockholders.

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed Wigidg net income (loss) attributable to commorcktmlders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the@gel computing diluted net income (loss) attrdhlié to common stockholders, net
income (loss) is re-allocated to reflect the patgmipact of dilutive securities, including stooktions, warrants, unvested restricted stock an
unvested ZSUs. Diluted net income (loss) per sisatemputed by dividing net income (loss) attrilliléato common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstgnidicluding potential dilutive securities. For jpels in which we have generated a net
loss or there is no income attributable to commntonldolders, we do not include stock options, wasand unvested ZSUs in our calculation
of diluted net income (loss) per share, as the ahphthese awards is anti-dilutive.

14
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The following table sets forth the computation aiz and diluted net income (loss) per share ofrsomstock (in thousands, except per
share data):

Three Months Ended September 3C

2012 2011
Class Class Class Class Class Class
A B C A B C
(unaudited)

BASIC:
Net income (loss $(35,78) $(15,51) $(1,43) $— $ 11590 $ 94¢
Net income attributable to participating securi — — — — (11,597 (94%)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhi $(35,78) $(15,51) $(143) $— $ — $ —
Weightec-average common shares outstanc 512,26¢ 222,07¢ 20,51% — 250,99¢ 20,51°
Basic net income (loss) per shi $ (00)» $ (0.0 $ (0.0’) $0.0C $ 0.0 $ 0.0C
DILUTED:
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhe-basic $(35,78) $(15,51) $(1.43) $— $ — $ —
Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result ofveosion of Class C

shares to Class A shat (1,439 — — — — —
Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result oivession of Class B

shares to Class A shai (15,517 — — — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhe-diluted $(52,72Y $(1551) $(143) $— $ — $ —
Weightec-average common shares outstan-basic 512,26¢ 222,07¢ 20,51% — 250,99¢ 20,51°
Conversion of Class C to Class A common sharedanding 20,515 — — — — —
Conversion of Class C to Class B common sharesamating — — — — 20,517 —
Conversion of Class B to Class A common sharedandsg 222,07¢ — — — — —
Weightec-average common shares outstan-diluted 754,86: 222,07¢ 20,51% — 271,51 20,51°
Diluted net income (loss) per sh: $ (00 $ (0.0)) $ (0.07) $0.0C $ 0.0 $ o0.0C

15



Case3:12-cv-04007-JSW.__Document134-8 _Filed05/31/13._Page20 0f 54

Table of Contents

Nine Months Ended September 3C

2012 2011
Class Class Class Class Class Class
A B C A B C
(unaudited)

BASIC:
Net income (loss $ (70,840 $(85,52() $(4,527) $— $ 28,308 $ 2,38¢
Net income attributable to participating securi — — — — (28,305) (2,389
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhi $ (70,840 $(85,52() $(4,527) $— $ — $ —
Weightec-average common shares outstanc 321,06° 387,59¢ 20,51% — 243,59° 20,51°
Basic net income (loss) per shi $ (027 $ (0.22) $ (022 $0.0 $ 0.0 $ 0.0C
DILUTED:
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhe-basic $ (70,840 $(85,52() $(4,527) $— $ — $ —
Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result oivession of Class C

shares to Class A shai (4,527) — — — — —
Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result oivession of Class B

shares to Class A shai (85,52() — — — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhe-diluted $(160,88) $(85,52() $(4,527) $— $ — $ —
Weighted-average common shares outstan-basic 321,06 387,59¢ 20,517 — 243,59° 20,51°
Conversion of Class C to Class A common sharesanding 20,51° — — — — —
Conversion of Class C to Class B common sharesamuating — — — — 20,515 —
Conversion of Class B to Class A common sharedandag 387,59¢ — — — — —
Weighted-average common shares outstan-diluted 729,18: 387,59¢ 20,51" — 264,11 20,51°
Diluted net income (loss) per sh: $ (022 $ (0.22) $ (0.22) $0.0C $ 0.0 $ 0.0C
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The following weighted-average employee equity alsavere excluded from the calculation of dilutetineome (loss) per share
because their effect would have been anti-diluirehe periods presented (in thousands, unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
Stock options 80,38t 84,54 88,72( 88,09(
Warrants 69t 12,15( 69t 12,07:
Restricted share 13,91t — 16,39 —
ZSUs 73,85¢ — 74,75( —
Total 168,85( 96,69: 180,55¢ 100,16:

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

We have entered into operating leases for fadglifiecluding data center space. As of Septembe2@IR, future minimum lease
payments related to these leases are as followBdusands, unaudited):

Year ending December 31

2012 $ 8,47¢
2013 33,48¢
2014 33,26(
2015 30,48:
2016 and thereaftt 86,07(

$191,77!

Legal Matters

On July 30, 2012, a purported securities claspadaptionedDeStefano v. Zynga Inc. et.alCase No. 3:12-cv-04007-JSW, was filed in
the United States District Court for the Northerigtiict of California against the Company, and arof our current and former directors,
officers, and executives. Additional purported séi@s class actions containing similar allegatibase since been filed in the Northern
District. On September 26, 2012, the court constdid various of the class actionslage Zynga Inc. Securities Litigatigr.ead Case No. 12-
cv-04007-JSW. In addition, a securities class aat@ptionedReyes v. Zynga Inc., et.alas filed on August 1, 2012 in San Francisco @pun
Superior Court, and removed to the Northern Distiit September 28, 2012. The various class actiomptaints allege that the defendants
violated the federal securities laws by issuingdadr misleading statements regarding the Compédmugimess and financial projections. The
various plaintiffs seek to represent a class o$@es who purchased or otherwise acquired the Coyigpsecurities between December 16,
2011 and July 25, 2012. The complaints assert slfmunspecified damages, and an award of coste@gmenses to the putative class,
including attorneys’ fees. The Company believémig meritorious defenses and will vigorously defdra$e actions.

Since August 3, 2012, eight stockholder derivatiwesuits have been filed in State or Federal cdar@alifornia and Delaware
purportedly on behalf of the Company against certarrent and former directors and executive offiad the Company. The derivative
plaintiffs allege that the defendants breached figticiary duties and violated California Corpaoats Code section 25402 in connection with
our initial public offering in December 2011, sedary offering in April 2012, and allegedly falseroisleading statements regarding the
Company’s business and financial projections. Baigip on August 3, 2012, three of the actions wied in San Francisco County Superior
Court. On October 2, 2012, the court consolidabtedé three actions ds re Zynga Shareholder Derivative Litigatiphead Case CGC-12-
522934. Beginning on August 16, 2012, four stoc#tbolerivative actions were filed in the Unitedt&saDistrict Court for the Northern
District of California and one derivative actionsvded in the United States District Court for thestrict of Delaware. The derivative actions
include claims for, among other things, unspecitiachages in favor of the Company, certain corpaetions to purportedly improve the
Company’s corporate governance, and an award ¢$ eosl expenses to the derivative plaintiffs, iditlg attorneys’ fees. We believe that the
plaintiffs in the derivative actions lack standiiogoursue litigation on behalf of Zynga.
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The actions described above have only recently fiksghand there has been no discovery or othergedings. Accordingly, we are not
in a position to assess whether any loss or adegfset on our financial condition is probable emote or to estimate the range of potential
loss, if any.

We are also party to various legal proceedingsciaichs which arise in the ordinary course of businén addition, we may receive
notification alleging infringement of patent or ethintellectual property rights. Adverse resultsity such litigation, legal proceedings or
claims may include awards of substantial monetamabes, costly royalty or licensing agreementsyaers preventing us from offering
certain games, features, or services, and mayedstdt in changes in our business practices, weneid result in additional costs or a loss of
revenue for us and could otherwise harm our busirdthough the results of such litigation cannetdredicted with certainty, we believe that
the amount or range of reasonably possible logdeted to such pending or threatened litigatiomh mat have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results, cash flows, or fir@rezindition should such litigation be resolvedawtfrably. We recognize legal expenses as
incurred.

13. Geographical Information
The following represents our revenue based ondoegmgphic location of our players (in thousands):

Revenue
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
2012 2011 2012 2011
(unaudited) (unaudited)

United State! $178,10: $195,24° $574,68! $538,34¢
All other countries® 138,53« 111,58. 395,41 290,51
Total revenue $316,63°  $306,82¢ $970,10. $828,86.

(1) No country exceeded 10% of our total revenue fgrpariods presente

The following represents our property and equipmeet by location (in thousands):

Property and equipment, net

September 3C

December 31

2012 2011

(unaudited)
United State: $ 481,48 $ 242,55.
All other countries 6,62¢ 4,18¢
Total property and equipment, r $ 488,10! $ 246,74

14. Subsequent Events
Share Repurchase Prograi

In October 2012, our Board of Directors authoriaeshare repurchase program of up to $200 millioouofoutstanding Class A common

stock that remains effective until October 31, 2014
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouarficial condition and results of operations in camgtion with the consolidated financ
statements and the related notes included elsewhehés Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The follagidiscussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates ailiegfseOur actual results could differ materiallypi those discussed in the forward-looking
statements and you are cautioned not to place unelimnce on forward-looking statements. Factorattbould cause or contribute to these
differences include those discussed below and bks®wn this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, partamly in “Special Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors."The forwaabking statements included in this Quarterly Réjpoe made only as of the
date hereof.

Overview

We are the world’s leading online social game deyet with approximately 311 million average MAUseWave launched some of the
most successful social games in the industry iih @&the last three years. Our games are accessitfacebook and other social networks,
mobile platforms and the Zynga platform. Our gamesgenerally available for free, and we genemtenue through the in-game sale of
virtual goods, mobile game download fees and atbiegt

We are a pioneer and innovator of social gamesadadder in making play a core activity on the imét. Our objective is to become the
worldwide leader in play by connecting the worldoilgh games.

Consistent with our free-to-play business modetgared to all players who play our games in anjogepnly a small portion of our
players are payers. Because the opportunity faakimteractions increases as the number of plapereases, we believe that maintaining and
growing our overall number of players, including tumber of players who may not purchase virtuablgpis important to the success of our
business. As a result, we believe that the numbplagers who choose to purchase virtual goodsaamifitinue to constitute a small portion of
our overall players as our business grows.

How We Generate Revenue

We operate our games as live services that allayeps to play for free. We generate revenue priyniim the in-game sale of virtual
goods and advertising. Revenue growth will depengly on our ability to attract and retain playainsl more effectively monetize our player
base through the sale of virtual goods and aduegti§Ve intend to do this through the launch of rgames, enhancements to current games
and expansion into new markets and distributiotfqians.

Online GameWe provide our players with the opportunity to gaase virtual goods that enhance their game-plagxpgrience. We
believe players choose to pay for virtual gooddifiersame reasons they are willing to pay for oftbens of entertainment. They enjoy the
additional playing time or added convenience, thibta to personalize their own game boards, théection of leveling up and the
opportunity for sharing creative expressions. Weeke players are more likely to purchase virtuabds when they are connected to and
playing with their friends, whether those friendaypfor free or also purchase virtual goods. Playray also elect to pay a one-time download
fee to obtain an ad-free mobile game.

Facebook is currently the primary distribution, kReting, promotion and payment platform for our gam\@e generate a significant
portion of our revenue and players through the Bagk platform and expect to continue to do so lierforeseeable future. For example, fol
three months ended September 30, 2012 and 201dstimeate that 80% and 94% of our quarterly bookingspectively, was generated
through the Facebook platform. For the three moetited September 30, 2012 and 2011, we estimadt84b@and 93% of our quarterly
revenue, respectively, were generated through délcelfook platform. We have had to estimate thiginéion because certain payment
methods used do not allow us to determine thegtatiused.

We are subject to Facebook’s standard terms anditemms for application developers, which govera gromotion, distribution and
operation of games and other applications on tleeli@ok platform. We have entered into an addenduiimeise terms and conditions pursuant
to which we have agreed to use Facebook Creditgdemk’s proprietary payment method, as the primaegns of payment within our games
played through Facebook and the Zynga platforms @didendum expires in May 2015.

We began migrating to Facebook Credits in July 2000 in April 2011, we completed this migratiomdér the addendum, Facebook
remits to us an amount equal to 70% of the faceevaf Facebook Credits purchased by our playeraderin our games. We recognize reve
net of amounts retained by Facebook. Prior todtdendum, we used third-party payment processarpaid these processors service fees
ranging from 2% to 10% of the purchase price ofwrtual goods which were recorded in cost of rexerPlayers can purchase Facebook
Credits from Facebook directly through our gamethmrugh game cards purchased from retailers astdhitors.
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In June 2012, Facebook announced its plans tomlisee the use of Facebook Credits and insteadostipcing in local currencies. We
expect our games to transition away from Facebaekli® and to adopt Facebook’s local currency-basgdnents model in the near future.

On platforms other than Facebook, players purchaseirtual goods through various widely acceptagirpent methods offered in the
games, including credit cards, PayPal, Apple iTaepunts and direct wires. Players can purchase gards from retailers and distributors
that can be redeemed on these platforms.

Advertising.Advertising revenue primarily includes brandedualtgoods and sponsorships, engagement ads ams, offebile ads,
display ads and licensing. We generally reportamwertising revenue net of amounts due to advegtiagencies and brokers.

Key Metrics

We regularly review a number of metrics, includthg following key financial and operating metrits gevaluate our business, measure
our performance, identify trends in our businesspare financial projections and make strategidst@ts.

Key Financial Metrics

BookingsBookings is a non-GAAP financial measure that isaédo revenue recognized during the period plesctrange in deferred
revenue during the period. We record the salertdal goods as deferred revenue and then recotfmateevenue over the estimated average
life of the purchased virtual goods or as the wrgpods are consumed. Advertising sales whichisbokcertain branded virtual goods and
sponsorships is also deferred and recognized beezdtimated average life of the branded virtualdgsimilar to online game revenue.
Bookings, as opposed to revenue, is the fundameapgdine metric we use to manage our busineswedselieve it is a better indicator of the
sales activity in a given period. Over the longrtethe factors impacting our bookings and revemadtee same. However, in the short term,
there are factors that may cause revenue to exardeglless than bookings in any period.

We use bookings to evaluate the results of ouratjwers, generate future operating plans and asiseggrformance of our company.
While we believe that this non-GAAP financial me@sis useful in evaluating our business, this imfation should be considered as
supplemental in nature and is not meant as a sufestor revenue recognized in accordance with G/&AP. In addition, other companies,
including companies in our industry, may calculadekings differently or not at all, which reducesusefulness as a comparative measure.

The following table presents a reconciliation ofenreue to bookings for each of the periods presemetiousands):

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 2012 2011
Reconciliation of Revenue to Bookings:
Revenue $ 316,63 $ 306,82¢ $ 970,10: $ 828,86
Change in deferred reven (61,039 (19,16¢) (83,749 20,13¢
Bookings $ 255,60t $ 287,66 $ 886,35t $ 849,00:

In July 2010, we began migrating to Facebook Cseafitthe primary payment method for our games gléty®ugh Facebook, and in
April 2011, we completed this migration. Faceboeknits to us an amount equal to 70% of the faceevaflFacebook Credits purchased by ou
players for use in our games. We record bookingsraoognize revenue net of the amounts retaindebbgbook. Prior to adoption of Faceb
Credits, we recorded a majority of our online gameenue at the gross price charged to the customer.

Adjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measuretth& calculate as net income (loss), adjustedpmvision
for) / benefit from income taxes; other income @nxge), net; interest income; gain (loss) from leg#tlements; depreciation and amortization;
stock-based expense, impairment of intangible ssgat change in deferred revenue. We believe thasted EBITDA provides useful
information to investors and others in understagdind evaluating our operating results in the saraener as our management and board of
directors.

We have included adjusted EBITDA in this QuartéRgport on Form 10-Q because it is a key measungse¢o evaluate our financial
and operating performance, generate future opgratams and make strategic decisions for the dilmeaf capital. Accordingly, we believe
that adjusted EBITDA provides useful informationinwestors and others in understanding and evalyatir operating results in the same
manner as our management and board of directorite Wha believe that this non-GAAP financial measisraseful in evaluating our business,
this information should be considered as suppleatéminature and is not meant as a substitutehtorelated financial information prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of imleome (loss) to adjusted EBITDA for each of gegiods indicated (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 2012 2011

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to Adjustet
EBITDA:
Net income (loss $ (2,72 % 12,54C $ (160,88) $ 30,68
(Provision for) benefit from income tax (43,03Y) 19,72: (36,41 51,20¢
Other income (expense), r 35C (269) (29,759 273
Interest incomt (1,149 (262) (3,519 (1,227
Legal settlement 98¢t — 1,87¢ —
Depreciation and amortizatic 39,44 22,93¢ 108,04 64,14¢
Impairment of intangible asse 95,49: — 95,49: —
Stocl-based expens 37,81% 22,62« 267,12: 70,24:
Change in deferred reven (61,037 (19,169 (83,749 20,13¢
Adjusted EBITDA $ 16,15¢ $ 58,13( $ 168,21! $ 23547

Limitations of Bookings and Adjusted EBITDA
Some limitations of bookings and adjusted EBITDA:ar

adjusted EBITDA does not include the impact of k-based expens

bookings and adjusted EBITDA do not reflect thatdeéer and recognize online game revenue and revieam certain advertisin
transactions over the estimated average life efi@irgoods or as virtual goods are consun

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect income tax expe

adjusted EBITDA does not include other income axpkase (net), which includes foreign exchange ganslosses, interest
income, and the net gain on termination of leagepamchase of our corporate headquarters builc

adjusted EBITDA excludes depreciation and amoiitimeand although these are non-cash charges, skésdseing depreciated and
amortized may have to be replaced in the fut

adjusted EBITDA does not include the impairmenintdngible assets previously acquired in conneatidh the company’s
purchase of OMGPOI

adjusted EBITDA does not include gains and lossss@ated with legal settlements; ¢

other companies, including companies in our inguistray calculate bookings and adjusted EBITDA défely or not at all, which
reduces their usefulness as a comparative me:

Because of these limitations, you should considekimgs and adjusted EBITDA along with other fin@hperformance measures,
including revenue, net income (loss) and our ofimancial results presented in accordance with GSAP.

Key Operating Metrics

We manage our business by tracking several opgratétrics: “DAUs,” which measure daily active usef®ur games, “MAUSs,” which
measure monthly active users of our games, “MUWEth measure monthly unique users of our games&JPK|” which measure monthly
unique payers in our games, and “ABPU,” which measour average daily bookings per average DAWR ehavhich is recorded by our
internal analytics systems.

DAUs. We define DAUs as the number of individuals wieyypd one of our games during a particular day.dditis metric, an
individual who plays two different games on the satay is counted as two DAUs. Similarly, an indiatiwho plays the same game on two
different platforms (e.g. web and mobile) or on tifferent social networks on the same day wouldduented as two DAUs. Average DAUs
for a particular period is the average of the DAtrseach day during that period. We use DAUs agasure of audience engagement.
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MAUs.We define MAUs as the number of individuals whoypld a particular game in the 30-day period endiitg the measurement
date. Under this metric, an individual who play® tfferent games in the same 30-day period is mlas two MAUs. Similarly, an
individual who plays the same game on two diffey@atforms (e.g., web and mobile) or on two différsocial networks in a 30-day period
would be counted as two MAUs. Average MAUSs for dipalar period is the average of the MAUs at eaminth-end during that period. We
use MAUs as a measure of total game audience size.

MUUs. We define MUUs as the number of unique individwelt® played any of our games on a particular platfor the 30-day period
ending with the measurement date. An individual \plays more than one of our games in a given 30paaypd would be counted as a single
MUU. However, because we cannot always distingursfjue individuals playing across multiple platf@ran individual who plays any of o
games on two different platforms (e.g., web anditepin a given 30day period may be counted as two MUUSs in the etlattwe do not hav
data that allows us to de-duplicate the playeraBee many of our players play more than one garaggimen 30day period, MUUs are alwa
lower than MAUSs in any given time period. Averagé&Ms for a particular period is the average of thgW4 at each month-end during that
period. We use MUUs as a measure of total audisraih across our network of games.

MUPs. We define MUPs as the number of unique players mhde a payment at least once during the appéigabhth through a
payment method for which we can quantify the nundiemique payers, including payers from certaimwf mobile games. MUPs does not
include payers who use certain payment methodwlitcch we cannot quantify the number of unique paykra player made a payment in our
games on two separate platforms (e.g, Facebooksandle+) in a period, the player would be countetixa unique payers in that period.
MUPs are presented as an average of the three siortie applicable quarter.

ABPU.We define ABPU as (i) our total bookings in a giy@riod, divided by (ii) the number of days in tpatiod, divided by, (iii) the
average DAUSs during the period. We believe that ABfPovides useful information to investors and egha understanding and evaluating
results in the same manner as our management and bbdirectors. We use ABPU as a measure of dvacmetization across all of our
players through the sale of virtual goods and athieg.

Our business model for social games is designelagpas there are more players that play our gasoesal interactions increase and the
more valuable the games and our business becomenddged players of our games help drive our bayskand, consequently, both online
game revenue and advertising revenue. Virtual gaogelpurchased by players who are socializing witinpeting against or collaborating w
other players, most of whom do not buy virtual gaoliccordingly, we primarily focus on bookings, DAWMAUs, MUUs, MUPs and ABPU,
which together we believe best reflect the econaralae of all of our players.

Three Months Ended September 3(C Nine Months Ended September 3C

2012 2011 2012 2011

(users and payers in millions’ (users and payers in millions
Average DAUs 60 54 66 58
Average MAUs 311 227 30: 23C
Average MUUs 177 152 184 15C
Average MUP¢ 2.9 2.€ 3.t NA
ABPU $ 0.04: $ 0.05¢ $ 0.04¢ $ 0.05:

NA means data is not availab
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Theincreasein DAUs, MAUs and MUUs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 as compared to the same periods of the
prior year was the result of mobile player growth offset by declinesin web players. DAUs and MUUs decreased in the three months ended
September 30, 2012 as compared to the prior quarter primarily due to declinesin Draw Something.

Other Metrics

Although our management primarily focuses on the operating metrics above, we also monitor periodic trendsin our paying players of our
games. The table below shows average monthly unique payer bookings, average MUPs and unique payer bookings per unique payer for the last
five quarters. These metrics are not available for the first and second quarters of 2011 due to mobile payer data not becoming available until the
third quarter of 2011:

For the Three Months Ended:
Sep 30, 2012 June 30, 2012 Mar 31, 2012 Dec 31, 2011 Sep 30, 2011

Average monthly unique payer bookings (in thousands) (1) $ 71,760 $ 86282 $ 96277 $ 90839 $ 86543
Average MUPs (in millions) 29 41 35 29 2.6
Monthly unique payer bookings per MUP (2) $ 25 3 21 $ 28 $ 31 % 33

(1) Average monthly unique payer bookings represent the monthly average amount of bookings for the applicable quarter that we received
through payment methods for which we can quantify the number of unique payers and excludes bookings generated from certain mobile
payersin thefirst quarter of 2012 due to our acquisition of OMGPORP late in that quarter, as well as bookings from certain payment methods
for which we cannot quantify the number of unique payers. Also excluded are bookings from advertising.

(20 Monthly unique payer bookings per MUP is calculated by dividing average monthly unique payer bookings by average MUPs.

Average monthly unique payer bookings decreased in each of the last two quarters, which was consistent with the decrease in total reported
bookings during these periods. Monthly unique payer bookings per MUP decreased from $27 in the first quarter of 2012 to $21 in the second
quarter of 2012, dueto an increasein MUPs in our mobile games, which generally monetizes at alower rate than our web games. Monthly unique
payer bookings per MUP increased to $24 in the third quarter of 2012, due to fewer mobile MUPs. In theinitial launch period of mobile games, such
asthe second quarter of 2012 that included the first full quarter of new payersfrom Draw Something, we have seen increased MUPs due to one-
time paid download fees that tend to decline in subsequent periods after which in-game spending comprises a greater percentage of mobile
bookings. Although we monitor our unique payer metrics, we focus on monetization, including through in-game advertising, of al of our players
and not just our payers. Accordingly, we strive to enhance content and our players' game experience to increase our bookings and ABPU, whichis
ameasure of overall monetization across al of our players through the sale of virtual goods and advertising.

Future growth in audience and engagement will depend on our ability to retain current players, attract new players, launch new games and
expand into new markets and distribution platforms, and the success of the Zynga platform. Our operating metrics may not correlate directly to
quarterly bookings or revenue trendsin the short term.

Recent Developments

Game Launches. We launched three games during the third quarter of 2012, including two titles on web-based platforms, ChefVille and
FarmVille 2, and onetitle on mobile platforms, Gems with Friends.

Third Quarter Operating Results. Our operating results for the third quarter of 2012 declined as compared to the second quarter of 2012. Total
bookings decreased by15% and adjusted EBITDA decreased by 75% compared to the second quarter of 2012. Third quarter results primarily reflect
weakness of certain gamesin our web “invest and express” category and include an impairment charge of $95.5 million (excluding any income tax
impact) related to the intangibl e assets previously acquired in connection with our purchase of OM GPOP. We expect a sequential declinein
reported bookings and adjusted EBITDA from the third quarter of 2012 to the fourth quarter of 2012.

Cost Reduction Plan. We have implemented cost reduction initiatives to better align our operating expenses with our revenue, including a
reduction in force of approximately 150 employees, or approximately 5% of our current workforce, and also steps to rationalize our product pipeline,
reduce marketing expenses and consolidate certain facilities, and we plan to continue to manage costs to better and more efficiently manage our
business.

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Changesin Facebook or other platforms. Facebook isthe primary distribution, marketing, promotion and payment platform for our social
games. We generate substantially all of our bookings, revenue and players through the Facebook platform and expect to continue to do so for the
foreseeabl e future. Except asto terms that have otherwise been negotiated between the parties, Facebook and other platforms have the discretion to
change their platforms, terms of service and other policies with respect to us or other devel opers, and those changes may be unfavorable to us. For
the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, we estimate that 80% and 94% of our quarterly bookings, respectively, was generated through
the Facebook platform. For the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, we estimate that 84% and 93% of our quarterly revenue,
respectively, was generated through the Facebook platform. We have had to estimate this information because certain payment methods used do
not allow usto determine the platform used.
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Launch of new games and release of enhanceméntsbookings and revenue results have been dhyehe launch of new games and
the release of fresh content and new featuresigtigg games. Although the amount of revenue arakings we generate from a new game or
an enhancement to an existing game can vary signiliy, we expect our revenue and bookings to beelated to the success and timely
launch of our new games and our success in refpasigaging content and features.

Game monetizationWe generate most of our bookings and revenue fhensale of virtual goods in our games. The detgreehich our
players choose to pay for virtual goods in our gaieelriven by our ability to create content andual goods that enhance the game-play
experience. Our bookings, revenue and overall firzuperformance are affected by the number ofgiapand the effectiveness of our
monetization of players through the sale of virigabds and advertising. For example ABPU decrefitsed $0.053 in the first nine months of
2011 to $0.049 in the first nine months of 2012jaltwas partially due to a shift in our user basenbbile games includinDraw Something
a mobile game that increased our overall playee bdast did not monetize as high as some of our wetegames. In addition, mobile and
international players have historically monetizéd sower level than U.S. players on average. Tdreentage of paying mobile and
international players may increase or decreasall@s@ number of factors, including growth in melghmes as a percentage of total game
audience and our overall international playersaliaation of content and the availability of payrheptions.

Investment in game developmeht order to develop new games and enhance themoand features in our existing games, we must
invest in a significant amount of engineering arehtive resources. These expenditures generally meonths in advance of the launch of a
new game or the release of new content, and thdtiresrevenue may not equal or exceed our devedoproosts.

Player acquisition cost&Ve utilize advertising and other forms of playeguaisition and retention to grow and retain our plagudience.
These expenditures generally relate to the promatf;mew game launches and ongoing performancediasgrams to drive new player
acquisition and lapsed player reactivation. Oweetithese acquisition and retention-related prognanay become either less effective or more
costly, negatively impacting our operating results.

New market developmeit/e are investing in new distribution channels saglhe Zynga platform and mobile and other platiyrm
including other social networks and in internatiomarkets to expand our reach and grow our busifr@ssexample, we have continued to hire
additional employees and acquire companies witleegpce developing mobile applications. We have glgested resources in integrating
operating some of our games on additional platfpin@duding Google+, mixi and Tencent. As we expartd new markets and distribution
channels, we expect to incur headcount, marketidgogher operating costs in advance of the assatkzokings and revenue. Our financial
performance will be impacted by our investmentiesk initiatives and their success.

Stock-based expensgrior to our initial public offering, we granted @S to our employees that generally vested upoisdtiefaction of
both a service-period condition of up to four yeams a liquidity event condition, the latter of wihiwas satisfied upon our initial public
offering. Because the liquidity event condition wet met until our initial public offering, priootthe fourth quarter of 2011, we had not
recorded any expense related to our ZSUs. In ttee thnd nine months ended September 30, 2012,cogmzed $23.8 million and $196.5
million, respectively, of stock-based expense eglab ZSUs. In the third quarter of 2012, we grdr®.4 million stock options to our
employees pursuant to our equity incentive plan.

Hiring and retaining key personné&bur ability to compete and grow depends in large @athe efforts and talents of our employees.
During the third quarter of 2012, we experiencétgher amount of employee attrition. Retaining keyployees is critical to our ability to
grow our business and execute on our businesegyrat

24



Case3:12-cv-04007-JSW._Document134-8__Eiled05/31/13._Page29.0f.54

Table of Contents

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our results of opienas for the periods presented as a percentagevehue for those periods:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
2012 2011 2012 2011
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data
Revenue 10C% 10C% 10(% 10C%
Costs and expense
Cost of revenu 28 26 28 27
Research and developmt 49 38 53 34
Sales and marketir 12 14 15 15
General and administrati 11 12 1€ 14
Impairment of intangible asse 30 — _1c e
Total costs and expens 13C 90 12t 90
Income (loss) from operatiol (30 10 (23 10
Interest incom — — e =
Other income (expense), r — — 2 =
Income (loss) before income tax (30 10 (20) 10
(Provision for) / benefit from income tax 13 (6) 4 __(®
Net income (loss (17%) 4% _ (19%) A%
Revenue
Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Revenue by type:

Online game $ 28558 $ 287,86t (1%) $ 869,91' $ 781,73 11%
Advertising 31,05( 18,96 64% 100,18 47,12¢ 112%

Total revenue $ 31663 $ 306,82 3% $ 970,10: $ 828,86: 17%

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparelsrée Months Ended September 30, 2011

Total revenue increased $9.8 million in the thider of 2012, as compared to the same periddeoptior year. Bookings decreased by
$32.1 million in the third quarter of 2012, as cargd to the same period of the prior year. ABPUeksed from $0.058 to $0.047 in the third
quarter of 2012, as compared to the same peritliegfrior year, while average DAUs increased frehmbllion in the third quarter of 2011 to
60 million in the third quarter of 2012.

Online game revenue decreased $2.3 million inhhrd guarter of 2012, as compared to the same ghefithe prior year. This decreast
partially attributable to online game revenue frerontierVille, FarmVilleandMafia Warsdecreasing by $36.9 million, $22.3 million, and
$22.1 million, respectively. The decrease in ontiaene revenue frotirontierVille was partially due to a change in the estimatedaaeelife
of durable virtual goods in the third quarter ofl2Qwhich resulted in a $17.9 million increaseamenue in the third quarter of 2011. The
decreases in online game revenue fleamrmVille andMafia Warsas well as the remaining decreasé&iantierVille were due to an overall
decline in bookings in these games. The decreasmdine game revenue were partially offset byeases in online revenue of $26.3 million,
$24.5 million, and $14.4 million fror@astleVille, Zynga PokeandBubble Safarirespectively. The increase in revenue fidymga Pokekvas
primarily due to higher mobile bookings. The in@e#n online game revenue frdnbble SafarandCastleVillewas the result of the launch
these games in May 2012 and November 2011, respbctiAll other games accounted for the remainiffgadting increase in online game
revenue of $16.1 million for the third quarter 6f12.

International revenue as a percentage of totalwey@ccounted for 44% and 36% in the third quaft@012 and 2011, respectively.

In the three months ended September 30, ZDjiya Poker FarmVille andCityVille were our top revenue-generating games and
comprised 21%, 20%, and 12%, respectively, of mline game revenue for the period. In the threettmanded September 30, 2011,
FarmVille, FrontierVille, CityVille, Zynga PokegndMafia Warswere our top revenugenerating games and comprised 28%, 20%, 13%,
and 11%, respectively, of online game revenuelferperiod. No other game generated more than 1G8aliole game revenue during either of
these periods.
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Consumable virtual goods accounted for 32% and @béfiline game revenue in the third quarter of 2848 2011, respectively. Dura
virtual goods accounted for 68% and 75% of onliamg revenue in the third quarter of 2012 and 2fHshectively. The estimated weighted-
average life of durable virtual goods was 12 moffithshe third quarter of 2012 compared to 14 merith the third quarter of 2011.

Advertising revenue increased $12.1 million frora three months ended September 30, 2011 to the ttwaths ended September 30,
2012, due to a $13.6 million increase in in-ganpldly ads and a $1.0 million increase in in-ganoasership revenue, partially offset by a
decrease of $2.6 million in in-game offers, engageinads and other advertising revenue.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparedi® Months Ended September 30, 2

Total revenue increased $141.2 million in the mmenths ended September 30, 2012, as compared satie period of the prior year, as
a result of growth in both online game and adviedisevenue. Bookings increased by $37.4 milliothie nine months ended September 30,
2012 as compared to the same period of the priar. yeBPU decreased from $0.053 for the nine moatited September 30, 2011 to $0.049
million for the nine months ended September 3022@AUs increased from 58 million for the nine musended September 30, 2011 to
66 million for the nine months ended September2B02.

Online game revenue increased $88.2 million imihe months ended September 30, 2012 as compatied same period of the prior
year. This increase is primarily attributable torgases in revenue fraCastleVille, Zynga Poker, CityVilleHidden ChronicleandFarmVille
in the amount of $68.0 million, $41.2 million, $35nillion, $19.7 million, and $13.0 million of thecrease respectively. The increases in
online game revenue fro@astleVille, CityVilleandHidden Chroniclesvere the result of these games’ more recent ladat#s which were in
November 2011, December 2010, and February 204gectively. The increase FarmVille was the result of higher bookings from new
content releases throughout 2011 and 2012. Thedgerin online game revenue frdynga Pokemwas mainly due to bookings growth on
mobile platforms. The growth in online game revenass partially offset by decreases in online gaevemue of $74.4 million and $56.7
million from Mafia WarsandFrontierVille , respectively. The decreaseNtafia Warsonline game revenue was due to a decrease in kgsokin
The decrease in online game revenue fRsontierVille was primarily due to changes in our estimated aeeliée of durable virtual goods in
the first nine months of 2011, resulting in a $3@illion increase to revenue in the nine monthseen8eptember 30, 2011. All other games
accounted for the remaining net increase of $42ll&>m

International revenue as a percentage of totahu@ccounted for 41% and 35% in the nine monts@September 30, 2012 and 2(
respectively.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2BaénVille, Zynga PokerandCityVille , were our top revenue-generating games and
comprised 26%, 18%, and 14%, respectively, of mline game revenue for the period. In the nine m®ehded September 30, 2011,
FarmVille, FrontierVille, Zynga Poker Mafia Wars,andCityVille were our top revenue-generating games and com2ig¥q 16%, 15%,
14%, and 11%, respectively, of online game revdauthe period. No other game generated more tléf af online game revenue during
either of these nine month periods.

Consumable virtual goods accounted for 30% of enfjame revenue in the nine months ended Septerip2082 and 2011. Durable
virtual goods accounted for 70% of online game mereein the nine months ended September 30, 2012GIH The estimated weighted-
average life of durable virtual goods was 13 moimhse nine months ended September 30, 2012, caupa 15 months for the nine months
ended September 30, 2011. In addition, changesriestimated average life of durable virtual goddsng the nine months ended
September 30, 2012 for various games resulted incease in revenue of $22.0 million in that périahich is the result of adjusting the
remaining recognition period of deferred revenueegated in prior periods at the time of a changestimate. For the same period in the prior
year, changes in our estimated average life oftdenartual goods resulted in an increase in reeesfu$48.5 million.

Advertising revenue increased $53.1 million frora thine months ended September 30, 2011 to themaméhs ended September 30,
2012, due to a $48.2 million increase in in-ganepldly ads, a $7.6 million increase in licensingeraie, and a $8.4 million increase in in-game
sponsorship revenue, offset by a decrease of $iilign in in-game offers, engagement ads and oduertising revenue.
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Cost of revenue

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 90,15( $ 80,17( 12% $ 275,11 $ 225,90¢ 22%

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparelké® Months Ended September 30, 2011

Cost of revenue increased $10.0 million in thectiojuarter of 2012 as compared to the same perititegirior year. The increase was
primarily attributable to an increase of $11.6 millin depreciation and amortization expense rdladenew property and equipment acquire
support our network infrastructure and acquiredngtbles, an increase of $5.8 million in thpdrty payment processing fees and an incree
$3.1 million in sales tax expense. These incre@sessts of revenue were partially offset by a dase of $10.0 million in hosting costs in the
third quarter of 2012 as compared to the same g@fithe prior year.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparedi® Months Ended September 30, 2

Cost of revenue increased $49.2 million in the mmanths ended September 30, 2012 as compared $authe period of the prior year.
The increase was primarily attributable to an inseeof $29.4 million in depreciation and amort@atexpense related to property and
equipment acquired to support our network infragtree and acquired intangibles, an increase ofgb2illlion in third-party payment
processing fees, an increase of $9.5 million iclsteased expense mainly due to expense recogrozetSlUs, as prior to our December 2011
initial public offering, the criteria for recognitm of these expenses had not been met, and amgecoé $7.3 million in consulting costs
primarily related to third-party customer supp@dquired. These increases in costs of revenue vegtialfy offset by a decrease of $17.0
million in maintenance and hosting costs in theenitonths ended September 30, 2012 as compared sarte period of the prior year.

Research and development

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Research and developmer $ 155,60¢ $ 114,80 36% $ 513,80 $ 282,31 82%

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparelsrée Months Ended September 30, 2011

Research and development expenses increased $dlb8 i the third quarter of 2012 as comparedhe same period of the prior year.
The increase was primarily attributable to a $2Billion increase in stock-based expenses, maing/tdithe expense recognized for ZSUs, an
an increase of $13.9 million in headcount-relatege@ses, in each case as compared to the samd pétiee prior year.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparedi® Months Ended September 30, 2

Research and development expenses increased $2@io5 in the nine months ended September 30, 232ompared to the same
period of the prior year. The increase was primaitributable to a $144.5 million increase in &based expenses, mainly due to the expens
recognized for ZSUs, an increase of $66.3 millimhéadcount-related expenses, an increase of #iilliéh in facilities and other overhead
support costs and an increase of $8.2 million imsatting costs, in each case as compared to the pariod of the prior year.
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Sales and marketing

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Sales and marketing $ 36,58t $ 43,717 (16%) $ 14947¢ $ 121,97: 23%

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparelké® Months Ended September 30, 2011

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $7.1 miilltbe third quarter of 2012 as compared to ttmeesperiod of the prior year. The
decrease was primarily attributable to a $6.3 omlldecrease in stock-based expenses and $1.9 sleangalayer acquisition costs, which were
partially offset by a $1.2 million increase in animation expense from acquired intangibles, in ezade as compared to the same period of th
prior year.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparedi® Months Ended September 30, 2

Sales and marketing expenses increased $27.5miiflithe nine months ended September 30, 2012rapared to the same period of
prior year. The increase was primarily attributabol&11.1 million increase in stock-based expemsenly due to the expense recognized for
ZSUs, a $9.3 million increase in player acquisittmsts, an increase in headcount-related expemgdslomillion, and a $2.4 million increase
in amortization from acquired intangibles, eachecas compared to the same period of the prior year.

General and administrative

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
General and administrative $ 3535 $ 36,39t (3%) $ 156,79¢ $ 117,72 33%

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparelké® Months Ended September 30, 2011

General and administrative expenses decreasedriilidh in the third quarter of 2012 as comparedhe same period of the prior year.
The decrease was primarily attributable to a deered $4.2 million in stock-based expense as vee#l 2.0 million decrease in allocated
facilities and other overhead support costs. Thieseeases in general and administrative expensespaeially offset by a $3.9 million
increase in depreciation and amortization expendeagb1.9 million increase in legal fees.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparedi® Months Ended September 30, 2

General and administrative expenses increased $d8idn in the nine months ended September 302288 compared to the same pe
of the prior year. The increase was primarily btitable to an increase of $31.8 million in stockdzhexpense, including the expense
recognized for ZSUs. The increase in general andrasitrative expenses was also due in part to &ndhillion increase in depreciation and
amortization, and a $6.3 million increase in cotisglexpense, which was offset by a decrease a6$tillion in allocated facilities and other
overhead costs.

Other income (expense), net

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Other income (expense), ne $ (350 $ 267 N/M $ 19,75¢ $ (279 N/M
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Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparelké® Months Ended September 30, 2011

Other income (expense), net decreased $0.6 mitlidime third quarter of 2012 as compared to theespetiod of the prior year. The
decrease was primarily attributable to interest@mdency rate fluctuations.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparedi® Months Ended September 30, 2

Other income (expense), net increased $20.0 milfidhe nine months ended September 30,2012 asaredhpo the same period of the
prior year. The increase was primarily attributabl¢he $19.8 million net gain recognized on thenfeation of lease and purchase of building,
net.

Provision for income taxes

Three Months Ended September 3C Nine Months Ended September 3(C
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Provision for income taxes $ 43,03t % (29,729 (31&%) $ 36,417 $ (51,20¢) (171%)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparelsrée Months Ended September 30, 2011

The provision for income taxes decreased by $62IBmin the third quarter of 2012 as comparedhe same period of the prior year.
This decrease was attributable in part to a deereagre-tax income of $128.0 million in the thigdarter of 2012, as well as acquisitions, the
tax impact of the OMGPOP impairment charge recoidede quarter, the costs of implementing ourrimitional structure and current year
valuation allowance offsetting a portion of our deferred tax assets.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Comparedi® Months Ended September 30, 2

The provision for income taxes decreased by $87l®&min the nine months ended September 30, 28 2ompared to the same period
of the prior year. This decrease was attributableart to a decrease in pia@x income of $279.2 million in the nine months eth@&eptember 3
2012, as well as acquisitions, the OMGPOP impaitrobarge recorded in the quarter, the costs ofemphting our international structure,
current year valuation allowance offsetting a mortdf our net deferred tax assets.

For the foreseeable future, our effective tax watebe impacted by additional tax expense assediatith the implementation of our
international tax structure, and the deductibitifystock-based expense. As the implementation pfraernational tax structure is completed,
we anticipate that our effective tax rate will bavkr than the U.S. statutory rate.

Liquidity and Capital Resource

Nine Months Ended September 3C
2012 2011
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Data:

Acquisition of property and equipme $ (325,509 $ (187,730
Depreciation and amortizatic 108,04¢ 64,14¢
Cash flows provided by operating activit $ 175,98t $ 225,21:
Cash flows used in investing activiti (1,462,24) (10,579
Cash flows provided by financing activiti 98,17( 201,73:

As of September 30, 2012, we had cash, cash equigahnd marketable securities of approximatel§g $ilion, which consisted of cash,
money market funds, U.S. government and governagecy debt securities, corporate debt securitidsraunicipal securities. For the full
year ended December 31, 2012, we expect to makilcappenditures of up to $345 million, which indes the purchase and build out of
corporate headquarters as well as investmentstivonle infrastructure to support our expected growtte believe that our existing cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities, togethdr @ash generated from operations, will be sufficterfund our operations and capital
expenditures for at least the next 12 months.
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Operating Activities

Operating activities provided $176.0 million of haturing the nine months ended September 30, 261@ur net loss of $160.9 million
the nine months ended September 30, 2011 is adjusexclude non-cash items. Significant non-cssing included stock-based expense of
$267.1 million, depreciation and amortization 0081 million and impairment of intangible asset$85.5 million. Stock-based expense was
composed primarily of employee ZSU and stock opérpense and increased by $196.9 million in the mionths ended September 30, 2012
as compared to the same period of the prior yeata@xpense incurred related to ZSUs. We didnmtriZSU-related expenses during the
nine months ended September 30, 2011 becauseiditicgvent-based vesting criteria was not satikfiatil our initial public offering in
December 2011. Depreciation and amortization irs@das compared to the nine months ended Sept@Mb2011 as a result of our contint
investment in property and equipment, includingghechase of our corporate headquarters building baisiness acquisitions. Changes in out
operating assets and liabilities used $67.4 milibnash in the nine months ended September 3@, 20Bimarily due to decreases in deferred
revenue and other liabilities. Changes in operadsgets and liabilities provided $57.3 million ath during the nine months ended
September 30, 2011, primarily due to increaseshardiabilities, deferred revenue and accountapleyoffset by a decrease in income tax
receivable.

Investing Activities

Investing activities resulted in a cash outflowaf5 billion during the nine months ended Septer30e2012. The primary uses of cash
associated with investing activities were $1.5¢dmillfor the purchase of marketable securities, @ag@ntinued to invest the proceeds received
from our initial public offering; $233.7 million fahe purchase of our corporate headquarters bgildind $205.5 million net of cash acquired,
for business acquisitions. Excluding the purchdsmio corporate headquarters building, capital exiteres were $91.8 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2012, which mainlyaelet the continued investment in our data certedsother hardware and software to
support our growth. These uses of cash were dgratibet by the sale and maturity of $591.8 milliof marketable securities.

Financing Activities

For the nine months ended September 30, 2012 ronagy financing activity was $99.8 million in preeds from a term loan, net of
issuance costs, entered into on June 29, 2012 |8Wdad cash out flows for tax payments made imeotion with the vesting of stock awards
and cash received from the exercise of employexk sfptions. In the nine months ended Septembe2@D1, we issued 34.9 million shares of
Series C preferred stock for net proceeds of $48#ll®n. In addition, we repurchased 27.5 millishares of our outstanding capital stock f
total purchase price of $283.8 million during tlieenmonths ended September 30, 2011.

Credit Facility

In July 2011, we executed a revolving credit agremimvith certain lenders to borrow up to $1.0 biilin revolving loans. The interest
rate for the credit facility is determined basedadiermula using certain market rates. As of Sepem30, 2012, we had not drawn down any
amounts on the credit facility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangemethiei third quarter of 2012 or in any prior periods
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Lease Obligations

We have entered into operating leases for fadgliiecluding data center space. As of Septembe2@R, future minimum lease
payments related to these leases are as followBdusands, unaudited):

Year ending December 3

2012 $ 8,47¢
2013 33,48¢
2014 33,26(
2015 30,48:
2016 and thereaft 86,07(

$191,77!

We do not have any material capital lease obligatiand all of our property, equipment and softwe® been purchased with cash.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make estand assumptions that af
the reported amounts in our consolidated finarstetements and related notes. Our significant atowupolicies are described in Note 1 to
our consolidated financial statements includedunpreviously-filed Annual Report. We have idemifibelow our critical accounting policies
and estimates that we believe require the greatesunt of judgment. These estimates and judgmees & significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements. Actual resudtda differ materially from those estimates. The@amting policies that reflect our more
significant estimates and judgments and that wiewelare the most critical to fully understand amdluate our reported financial results
include the following:

* Revenue recognitio

* Income taxe:

* Business combinatior

» Stoclk-based expens

* Goodwill and indefinit-lived intangible assets (please see further ddtailsw)
» Impairment of lon-lived assets (please see further details be

Please refer to “Management’s Discussion and AiabfsFinancial Condition and Results of Operatiarentained in Part I, Item 7 of
our Annual Report on Form 1K-for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 forame complete discussion of our critical accounfiolicies
and estimates. In addition, we made the followipdates to our critical accounting policies.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets aggried at cost and are evaluated annually foaimpent, or more frequently if
circumstances exist that indicate that impairmeay exist. Goodwill is assessed for impairment alipea when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the fair value has beduaced below carrying value. When conductingasurual goodwill impairment assessment
we initially perform a qualitative evaluation of efer it is more likely than not that goodwill lmpaired in order to determine the need to
perform the two-step impairment test. If we deterenby a qualitative evaluation that it is more lkihan not that goodwill is impaired, we
conduct a quantitative assessment of impairmentiwtd@quires us to estimate future cash flows. Rexahility of indefinite-lived intangible
assets is measured by comparison of the carryirmyahof the asset to its fair value. If the assetdnsidered to be impaired, the amount of
impairment is measured as the difference betwesgalrying value and the fair value of the impasdet.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including other intangible as¢excluding indefinite-lived intangible assetsk eeviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate asasaerying value may not be recoverable. If soithumstances are present, we assess the
recoverability of the londjved assets by comparing the carrying value tautidiscounted future cash flows associated witlreéleted assets.
the future net undiscounted cash flows are lessttha carrying value of the assets, the assetsomsdered impaired and an expense, equal t
the amount required to reduce the carrying valub®fssets to the estimated fair value, is recbirdéhe consolidated statements of operat
Significant judgment is required to estimate thevant and timing of future cash flows and the rehatisk of achieving those cash flows.

Assumptions and estimates about futureegtind remaining useful lives are complex and doftdsjective. They can be affected by a
variety of factors, including external factors sashindustry and economic trends, and internabfactuch as changes in our business strateq
and our internal forecasts. For example, if ounfetoperating results do not meet current foreaasifsve experience a continued decline in
our market capitalization, we may be required twrd future impairment charges for goodwill anddoquired intangible assets. Impairment
charges could materially decrease our future resinite and result in lower asset values on our balaheet.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncementur consolidated financial
statements, see Note 1 — “Overview and Summarygriif®ant Accounting Policies” in the notes to thensolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on FAO¥).

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABO UT MARKET RISK

During the nine months ended September 30, 20&2e thiere no significant changes to our quantitaive qualitative disclosures about
market risk. Please refer to Part Il, Item 7A. Qitative and Qualitative Disclosure About MarkesRincluded in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 201afmore complete discussion on the market riskemeaunter.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleeécutive officer and chief financial officer, éwated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the ettiegberiod covered by this Quarterly Report. Térent“disclosure controls and procedures,”
as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) ureEkchange Act, means controls and other procediir@ company that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed bpmpany in the reports that it files or submitder the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the pieninds specified in the Securities and Exchang@@ission (the “SEC”) rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, withiouitation, controls and procedures designed &ues that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is accumulatgdcammunicated to the company’s
management, including its principal executive andgipal financial officers, as appropriate to alltimely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on the evaluation of our disesontrols and procedures as of September 30, 20t Zhief executive officer and chief
financial officer concluded that, as of such date, disclosure controls and procedures were effecti the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting identified in management’s exaion pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d)
or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the quaeteted September 30, 2012 that materially affectedre reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial repaodgi

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedres

In designing and evaluating the disclosure contiald procedures, management recognizes that atlsoand procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide ordgarable assurance of achieving the desired catijettives. In addition, the design of
disclosure controls and procedures must reflectabiethat there are resource constraints andwhatgement is required to apply judgment in
evaluating the benefits of possible controls aratedures relative to their costs.

PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For a description of our material legal proceedjrsg® the section titled “Legal Matters” includadNiote 12 —“Commitments and
Contingencies” in the notes to the consolidatedrfaial statements included elsewhere in this QuaReport on Form 10-Q which is
incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We have identified the following risks and uncaettiais that may have a material adverse effect arbasiness, financial condition or
results of operations. The risks described belosvraot the only ones we face. Additional risks mesently known to us or that we currently
believe are not material may also significantly ampur business operations. Our business coultidrened by any of these risks. The trading
price of our common stock could decline due toathese risks, and you may lose all or part ofryinuestment. In assessing these risks,
should also refer to the other information containe this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, includiagr condensed consolidated financial
statements and related notes.

32



Case3:12-cv-04007-JSW._Document134-8__Eiled05/31/13._Page37.0f.54

Table of Contents

We have marked with an asterisk (*) those risksrilesd below that reflect substantive changes fromadditions to, the risks described
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year eshd=cember 31, 2011.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
If we are unable to maintain a good relationship tiFacebook, our business will suffer,

Facebook is currently the primary distribution, k&ing, promotion and payment platform for our gam\&e generate a significant
majority of our revenue and players through theeback platform and expect to continue to do sdHerforeseeable future. Any deterioration
in our relationship with Facebook would harm ousibess and adversely affect our operating resntistae value of our Class A common
stock.

We are subject to Facebook’s standard terms anditemms for application developers, which govera gromotion, distribution and
operation of games and other applications on tlels@ok platform, and which are subject to changedmebook from time to time. We have
entered into an addendum to these terms and consliiursuant to which we have agreed to use Fakebaalits, Facebook’s proprietary
payment method, as the primary means of paymehtmitur games played through Facebook. This adderekpires in May 2015. In June
2012, Facebook announced its plans to discontimi@ise of Facebook Credits and instead supporhgriic local currencies. We expect to
transition away from Facebook Credits and to adf@gebook’s local currency-based payments modéleimear future, but we cannot assure
you that these changes will not have a negativaanpn our operating results in the futt

Our business may be harmed if:
» Facebook discontinues or limits access to its @iatfby us;
» Facebook terminates or does not renew or replacadiendum or seeks to terminate our contractlatioaship altogethel

» Facebook modifies its terms of service or otheigd, including fees charged to, or other restitt on, us, other application
developers, or Facebook changes how the persdoafiation of its users is made available to appilicedevelopers on the
Facebook platform or shared by ust

» Facebook establishes more favorable relationshiihsome or more of our competitors;
» Facebook develops its own competitive offerir

In addition, we have benefited from Facebook’srggrbrand recognition and large user base. If Fadelmses its market position or
otherwise falls out of favor with Internet userg would need to identify alternative channels farketing, promoting and distributing our
games, which would consume substantial resouragsnary not be effective. As noted above, Faceboskhaad discretion to change its term:s
of service and other policies with respect to us @er developers, and those changes may be uafdedo us. For example, Facebook’s
policy requiring that applications on Facebook atamly its virtual currency, Facebook Creditspagment from users, which was adopted in
2010 and we completed in April 2011, provided Faodbwith a greater share of payments made by @yeps$ than it did when other payment
options were allowed. Facebook recently announisgalans to discontinue use of Facebook Creditself@ok may also change its fee
structure, add fees associated with access to smdfuihe Facebook platform, change how the pelsoioamation of its users is made
available to application developers on the Facelpbatform or restrict how Facebook users can shdioemation with friends on their
platform. Beginning in early 2010, Facebook chaniggegolicies for application developers regardisg of its communication channels. Thes
changes limited the level of communication amorgrsigbout applications on the Facebook platforma Assult, the number of our players on
Facebook declined. Our current agreement with Faalehllows our users to use Zynga-branded games ¢ardhe redemption of Facebook
Credits and allows us to continue to distribute game cards for a limited time. We are working vificebook to transition retailers from our
gift card program to Facebook’s gift cards. We expkis transition to occur over time and to be ptated in the near future. Our future
bookings and revenue may be negatively impacteithgltinis transition period and upon the expiratidour game card program. Any such
changes in the future could significantly alter holayers experience our games or interact withingaumes, which may harm our business.

We operate in a new and rapidly changing industwhich makes it difficult to evaluate our business@ prospects.

The social game industry, through which we derivessantially all of our revenue, is a new and rhpévolving industry. The growth of
the social game industry and the level of demanbnaarket acceptance of our games are subjectigghadkgree of uncertainty. Our future
operating results will depend on numerous factéfecting the social game industry, many of which beyond our control, including:

« continued worldwide growth in the adoption and a6Eacebook and other social networ
» changes in consumer demographics and public tasteépreference:
» the availability and popularity of other forms aftertainment
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» the worldwide growth of personal computer, broadbbmernet and mobile device users, and the rassmpfsuch growth; an
* general economic conditions, particularly econoaainditions adversely affecting discretionary consuspending

Our ability to plan for game development, distribatand promotional activities will be significapthffected by our ability to anticipate
and adapt to relatively rapid changes in the taamtespreferences of our current and potential ptayéew and different types of entertainment
may increase in popularity at the expense of sggaaies. A decline in the popularity of social gamegeneral, or our games in particular
would harm our business and prospects.

We have a new business model and a short operatiistpry, which makes it difficult to evaluate ourpspects and future financial results
and may increase the risk that we will not be susskil.

We began operations in April 2007, and we haveoat giperating history and a new business modelchvhiakes it difficult to effective
assess our future prospects. Our business molaséxd on offering games that are free to play.afe,adnly a small portion of our players pay
for virtual goods.

We rely on a small portion of our total players foearly all of our revenue.*

Compared to all players who play our games in arjogd, only a small portion are paying players.iBDgthe three months ended
September 30, 2012, we had approximately 2.9 milittJPs (excluding payers who use certain paymentaas for which unique payer data
is not available), which represents approximately percent of our players. We lose players in ttténary course of business. In order to
sustain our revenue levels, we must attract, retathincrease the number of players or more effelgtimonetize our players. To retain play:
we must devote significant resources so that tiheegahey play retain their interest and attraatthe our other games. If we fail to grow or
sustain the number of our players, or if the rateghich we attract and retain players decline$ thie average amount our players pay decl
our business may not grow and our financial reswilissuffer.

Our growth prospects may suffer if the Zynga platfio is unsuccessful.*

We launched the Zynga platform in March 2012. Chilitg to increase our player base and revenuedefend, in part, on the successfu
operation of the Zynga platform. If the Zynga pdaih fails to engage players, interest third-pagyng developers or attract advertisers, we
may fail to generate sufficient revenue, operatiraggin or other value to justify our investmenthie development and operation of the Zynga
platform. We have very limited experience launchimigd-party developed games on the Zynga platf@mna, supporting games developed by
third parties. We may also encounter technical@etational challenges operating a platform. Initaatd although the Zynga platform is
integrated with Facebook and uses Facebook Cragliise only payment method for purchasing virtwaldsg, our launch and promotion of the
Zynga platform could harm our relationship with &acok. Moreover, in the event that the Zynga ptatfoeases to be integrated with
Facebook, then the standard Facebook policiesatbadpplicable to third party games outside theBacok platform will apply to the Zynga
platform. These policies include Facebook’s regeatinounced policy that, effective on December208,2, web games outside the Facebook
platform will be limited in the Facebook informatithey may access and are prohibited from usingdhee application ID as web games on
Facebook. If we are not successful with the ovenalhetization of the Zynga platform, we may noebé to maintain or grow our revenue as
anticipated and our financial results could be asklg affected.

We expect our bookings and revenue growth rate éclthe over time and anticipate operating margingyndecline in the future.*

From 2010 to 2011, our revenue grew from $597.%ianito $1.14 billion, which represents an annualgh rate of approximately 91%.
We expect the growth rate in bookings and revenillalecline over time. Although we have begun tglement targeted cost reduction
initiatives to better align our operating expenséh our revenue and we plan to continue to martagés better and manage our business mo
efficiently, we believe our operating margin wikperience downward pressure as a result of inargasimpetition and the need for increased
operating expenditures for many aspects of oumssi Further, we believe that the increased diaskd expense associated with vested
ZSUs, which we had not recognized prior to ouiiahipublic offering, will also exert downward press on our operating margin. We expec
continue to expend substantial financial and othsources on game development, international eiggaasd our network infrastructure. Our
operating costs might also increase if we do nietcéi’ely manage costs. In addition, weak econaroitditions or other factors could cause
business to contract, requiring us to implementtamdhl cost cutting measures.
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A small number of games have generated a majoritypor revenue, and we must continue to launch anthance games that attract ar
retain a significant number of players in order fgrow our revenue and sustain our competitive pasiti

Historically we have depended on a small numbeyanfies for a majority of our revenue and we exgettthis dependency will contin
for the foreseeable future. Our growth dependsuwrability to consistently launch new games thdiieme significant popularity. Each of our
games requires significant engineering, marketimdy@ther resources to develop, launch and susi@iregular upgrades and expansions, and
such costs have increased on average. Our alilgydcessfully launch, sustain and expand gameattnadt and retain players largely will
depend on our ability to:

« anticipate and effectively respond to changing gatager interests and preferenc
e anticipate or respond to changes in the competiindscape
» attract, retain and motivate talented game dessgpeoduct managers and engine
» develop, sustain and expand games that are fuaresiing and compelling to pla
» effectively market new games and enhancementsrtexasting players and new playe
* minimize launch delays and cost overruns on newegaand game expansiol
* minimize downtime and other technical difficultiesid
e acquire high quality assets, personnel and coms:
It is difficult to consistently anticipate playeemiand on a large scale, particularly as we devgdmopes in new genres or new markets,

including international markets and mobile platferrif we do not successfully launch games thaaetttand retain a significant number of
players and extend the life of our existing ganoes,market share, reputation and financial reswilisoe harmed.

If our top games do not maintain their popularitpur results of operations could be harme

In addition to creating new games that are atradt a significant number of players, we must edtthe life of our existing games, in
particular our most successful games. For a gamentain popular, we must constantly enhance, expanggrade the game with new featt
that players find attractive. Such constant enhaece requires the investment of significant resesirparticularly with older games and such
costs have increased on average. We may not béoaklecessfully enhance, expand or upgrade overdugames. Any reduction in the
number of players of our most popular games, agyedse in the popularity of our games or socialegim general, any breach of game-
related security or prolonged server interruptamy loss of rights to any intellectual property eriging such games, or any other adverse
developments relating to our most popular gamasgddoarm our results of operations.

Our growth prospects will suffer if we are unable tontinue to develop successful games for mobi&fprms or successfully monetize
mobile games we develop or acquire.*

Developing games for mobile platforms is an impoirzomponent of our strategy. We have devoted améxpect to continue to devote
substantial resources to the development of ourlmghmes, and we cannot guarantee that we wiliimoa to develop games that appeal to
players or advertisers. In addition, we may encewdifficulty in integrating features on games deped for mobile platforms that a sufficient
number of players will pay for or otherwise suffiotly monetize mobile games. Generally, our mogglmes monetize at a lower rate than our
web-based games and we may not be successful gffouts to increase our monetization from mob#engs. If we are unable to implement
successful monetization strategies for our mokdlmes, our ability to grow revenue and our finanpg&formance will be negatively affected.

Our ability to successfully develop games for melpilatforms will depend on our ability to:

» anticipate and effectively respond to the growingnber of players switching from wddased to mobile games, the changing m
landscape and the interests of players on molsliopms;

* attract, retain and motivate talented game dessgpeoduct managers and engineers who have experilveloping games for
mobile platforms

» expand on our current mobile gam
» effectively market new mobile games to our existivef-based players and players of our current mobileeges
* minimize launch delays and cost overruns on theldgwment of new game

» develop games that provide for a compelling anihogdtuser experience through existing and devebpfiird party technologies,
including third party software and middleware agld by our players; ar

» acquire and successfully integrate high quality ieaipame assets, personnel or compai

These and other uncertainties make it difficulkmow whether we will succeed in continuing to depesuccessful mobile games. If we
do not succeed in doing so, our growth prospedtssufifer.
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Any failure or significant interruption in our netvork could impact our operations and harm our busise

Our technology infrastructure is critical to thefpemance of our games and to player satisfactiur.games run on a complex
distributed system, or what is commonly known asidlcomputing. We own, operate and maintain th@amy elements of this system, but
some elements of this system are operated by hiries that we do not control and which would regjsignificant time to replace. We have
experienced, and may in the future experience, iletisruptions, outages and other performancelpnabdue to a variety of factors,
including infrastructure changes, human or softvearers and capacity constraints. For examplepfegation ofCityVille , was interrupted for
several hours in April 2012 due to a network outdfye particular game is unavailable when playatempt to access it or navigation throug
game is slower than they expect, players may dtpng the game and may be less likely to returthéogame as often, if at all. A failure or
significant interruption in our game service wobltkm our reputation and operations. We expect mbirmge to make significant investments to
our technology infrastructure to maintain and inyerall aspects of player experience and game peaioce. To the extent that our disaster
recovery systems are not adequate, or we do rexttefély address capacity constraints, upgradesystems as needed and continually develc
our technology and network architecture to accomat®éhcreasing traffic, our business and operatsglts may suffer. We do not maintain
insurance policies covering losses relating tosystems and we do not have business interruptgurance.

Security breaches, computer viruses and computeckiag attacks could harm our business, reputatidirand and results of operations

Security breaches, computer malware and computdiritaattacks have become more prevalent in ourstrg, have occurred on our
systems in the past and may occur on our systemhe ifuture. Any security breach caused by hackitgch involves efforts to gain
unauthorized access to information or systems oatise intentional malfunctions or loss or coiinrpbf data, software, hardware or other
computer equipment, and the inadvertent transnmissicomputer viruses could harm our businessnfiie condition and operating results.
We have experienced and will continue to experidraszking attacks. Because of our prominence irstiogal game industry, we believe we
a particularly attractive target for hackers.

In addition, our games involve the storage andstrassion of players’ personal information in ouwifiies and on our equipment,
networks and corporate systems. Security breaahdd expose us to litigation, remediation costsréased costs for security measures, l0ss |
revenue, damage to our reputation, and potendibilily. Our player data and corporate systemssaudirity measures may be breached due tc
the actions of outside parties, employee errorfeaabnce, a combination of these, or otherwise,asd result, an unauthorized party may
obtain access to our data or our players’ dataitiaally, outside parties may attempt to fraudtiiemduce employees or players to disclose
sensitive information in order to gain access toayers’ data. We must continuously examine andifg our security controls and business
policies to adapt to the adoption of new devicabstaghnologies enabling players to share data amminicate in new ways, and the
increasing focus by our players and regulatorsamtrolling and protecting user data.

Because the techniques used to obtain unauthaaizestss, disable or degrade service, or sabotatgrsyshange frequently or may be
designed to remain dormant until a predeterminexhieand often are not recognized until launchedéhaga target, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques or implement adequateptative measures. Though it is difficult toestetine what harm may directly result from
any specific interruption or breach, any failurertaintain performance, reliability, security and#ability of our network infrastructure to the
satisfaction of our players may harm our reputagind our ability to retain existing players andaatt new players.

If an actual or perceived breach of our securityuos, the market perception of the effectivenessuofsecurity measures could be
harmed, we could lose players, and we could sfiffancial exposure due to such events or in commeetith remediation efforts, investigati
costs, changed security, and system protectionunesis

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our Biness and operating results could be harme

We have experienced rapid growth in our headcoumdtogerations over the last couple of years, whashplaced and will continue to
place significant demands on our management andperational, financial and technological infrasture. As of September 30, 2012,
approximately 34% of our employees had been witfoukess than one year and approximately 73%ess than two years. We are in the
process of implementing certain cost reductionatiites to better align our operating expenses withrevenue, including reducing our
headcount, rationalizing our product pipeline, i@dg marketing and technology expenditures andalatating certain facilities, and we plan
to continue to manage costs to better and moreigftly manage our business. However, we must moatio expend significant resources to
identify, hire, integrate, develop, motivate anthie a large number of qualified employees. Out ceduction initiatives could negatively
impact our ability to hire and retain key employdésve fail to effectively manage our hiring needaccessfully integrate our new hires and
retain key employees, our ability to continue lghing new games and enhance existing games coukt suf

To effectively manage the growth of our business @perations, we will need to continue spendingifitant resources to improve our
technology infrastructure, our operational, finah@ind management controls, and our reporting systnd procedures by, among other thi

e monitoring and updating our technology infrastruetto maintain high performance and minimize doimet
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* enhancing information and communication systermenture that our employees and offices around thkewace well-coordinated
and can effectively communicate with each ot

» enhancing our internal controls to ensure timely accurate reporting of all of our operations;
» appropriately documenting our information technglsgstems and our business proces

These enhancements and improvements will requgréfiant capital expenditures and allocation dirable management and employee
resources. If we fail to implement these enhanceésnamd improvements effectively, our ability to rage our expected growth and comply
with the rules and regulations that are applicédleublic reporting companies will be impaired aladition, we cannot be sure that the cost
reduction initiatives will be as successful in reithg our overall expenses as expected or thatiaddltcosts will not offset any such reductic
If our operating costs are higher than we expedtwe do not maintain adequate control of our s@std expenses, our operating results will
suffer.

Our core values of focusing on our players first dracting for the long term may conflict with the sht-term interests of our business.

One of our core values is to focus on surprising) @glighting our players, which we believe is etis¢to our success and serves the |
long-term interests of Zynga and our stakeholdEnsrefore, we have made in the past and we may imake future, significant investments
or changes in strategy that we think will benefit players, even if our decision negatively impaxts operating results in the short term. For
example, in late 2009 and in 2010 we reduced inggadvertising offers in order to improve player ex@nce. This decrease in in-game offers
led to a reduction of advertising revenue in 204@@mpared to 2009. Our decisions may not restitéong-term benefits that we expect, in
which case the success of our games, businesgpanatiog results could be harmed.

If we lose the services of our founder and Chief&outive Officer or certain other members of our §enmanagement team, we may not
able to execute our business strategy.*

Our success depends in a large part upon the ceatiservice of our senior management team. Inqodatti, our founder and Chief
Executive Officer, Mark Pincus, is critical to otision, strategic direction, culture, products amchnology. We do not maintain key-man
insurance for Mr. Pincus or any other member ofsmmior management team. The loss of our foundiCémef Executive Officer or certain
other members of senior management could harmusinéss.

If we are unable to attract and retain highly quéied employees, we may not be able to grow effebtiy

Our ability to compete and grow depends in large @athe efforts and talents of our employeeshSraployees, particularly game
designers, product managers, engineers and exesutie in high demand, and we devote significaduees to identifying, recruiting, hiring,
training, successfully integrating and retainingsth employees. We have historically hired a nurabkey personnel through acquisitions, and
as competition with other game companies for ditra¢arget companies with a skilled employee hasgeases, we may incur significant
expenses in continuing this practice. The losaleinted employees or the inability to hire skilladployees as replacements could result in
significant disruptions to our business, and thiegration of replacement personnel could be timmesaming and expensive and cause
additional disruptions to our business. If we dbswcceed in recruiting, retaining, and motivating key employees to achieve a high level of
success or if we do not attract new key persommeinay be unable to grow our business or executbuginess strategy and as a result, our
revenue and profitability may decline. We belielwatttwo critical components of our success andability to retain our best people are our
culture and our competitive compensation practidsswve continue to develop the infrastructure ptialic company, we may find it difficult
maintain our entrepreneurial, execution-focusetlcel In addition, some of our employees may haenbmotivated to work for us by an
expectation that our Class A common stock woulttdding at a higher value and may be less motiviayetthe equity compensation they
receive as a result. Competitors may leverage esylting disappointment as a tool to recruit tadrémployees. Despite this, many of our
employees may still be able to receive signifiganoiceeds from sales of our equity in the publickats;, which may reduce their motivation to
continue to work for us. In addition, there mayoate disparities of wealth between those of ourleyges whom we hired prior to our initial
public offering in December 2011 and those whogdins after we became a public company, which raaw lour culture and relations among
employees. We have recently experienced attritidrigher levels than we have in the past, in pad aesult of our transition to a public
company. In addition, we have recently begun imgletimg certain cost reduction initiatives to betkgn our operating expenses with our
revenue, including reducing our headcount, andetisest reduction initiatives could negatively imtpagr ability to hire and retain key
employees.

An increasing number of individuals are utilizingeVices other than personal computers to accesdtiternet, and versions of our game
developed for these devices might not gain wideagradoption, or may not function as intended.*

The number of individuals who access the Internegtigh devices other than a personal computer, asisimartphones, tablets,
televisions and set-top box devices, has incredsmdatically, and we believe this trend is likadycontinue. The generally lower processing
speed, power, functionality and memory associatiéll tvese devices make playing our games through davices
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more difficult; and the versions of our games deped for these devices may not be compelling tpgpta In addition, each device
manufacturer or platform provider may establishgueior restrictive terms and conditions for devetspn such devices or platforms, and out
games may not work well or be viewable on thesécdevas a result. To expand our business, we @dtirio support a number of alternative
devices and technologies. Once developed, we maysehto port or convert a game into separate ves$ar alternative devices with different
technological requirements. As new devices and melwile platforms or updates to platforms are carglly being released, we may encounte
problems in developing versions of our games ferarsthese alternative devices and we may neeeMtel significant resources to the
creation, support, and maintenance of such dewicdglatforms. If we are unable to successfullyaexpthe platforms and devices on which
our games are available, or if the versions ofgames that we create for alternative platformsdewices are not compelling to our players,
our business will suffer.

Expansion into international markets is importandf our growth, and as we expand internationally, well face additional business
political, regulatory, operational, financial and@nomic risks, any of which could increase our cesind hinder such growtt

Continuing to expand our business to attract plyecountries other than the United States istaalrelement of our business strategy.
An important part of targeting international maskest developing offerings that are localized anst@mized for the players in those markets.
We have a limited operating history as a comparigide of the United States. We expect to contioudet/ote significant resources to
international expansion through acquisitions, ttatdishment of additional offices and developnsutlios, and increasing our foreign
language offerings. Our ability to expand our basgiand to attract talented employees and playeuns increasing number of international
markets will require considerable management attersind resources and is subject to the parti@ilalienges of supporting a rapidly growing
business in an environment of multiple languagelures, customs, legal systems, alternative déspystems, regulatory systems and
commercial infrastructures. We have experienceiicdlifies in the past and have not been successhll the countries we have entered.
Expanding our international focus may subject ussks that we have not faced before or increases that we currently face, including risks
associated with:

e recruiting and retaining talented and capable mamagt and employees in foreign countr
» challenges caused by distance, language and duitfeaences
» developing and customizing games and other offerihgt appeal to the tastes and preferences ddrglaty international market

» competition from local game makers with significamdrket share in those markets and with a bett@enstanding of player
preferences

» protecting and enforcing our intellectual propeights;

* negotiating agreements with local distribution foans that are sufficiently economically benefidialus and protective of our
rights;

» the inability to extend proprietary rights in ouahd, content or technology into new jurisdictic

* implementing alternative payment methods for virg@ods in a manner that complies with local lawd practices and protects us
from fraud;

» compliance with applicable foreign laws and regata, including privacy laws and laws relating tmtent;

» compliance with an-bribery laws including without limitation, compliae with the Foreign Corrupt Practices A
» credit risk and higher levels of payment fra

e currency exchange rate fluctuatio

e protectionist laws and business practices thatrfinaal businesses in some countr

» foreign tax consequence

» foreign exchange controls or U.S. tax restrictithvag might restrict or prevent us from repatriatingome earned in countries
outside the United State

e political, economic and social instabilit

» higher costs associated with doing business intiemelly;
e export or import regulations; ai

» trade and tariff restriction:

Entering new international markets will be expeasiour ability to successfully gain market accepain any particular market is uncertain,
and the distraction of our senior management teartdcdrarm our business.
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Competition within the broader entertainment induigtis intense and our existing and potential plagamay be attracted to competing forms
of entertainment such as offline and traditional éine games, television, movies and sports, as aglbther entertainment options on the
Internet.*

Our players face a vast array of entertainmentogtsoiOther forms of entertainment, such as offliraglitional online, personal computer
and console games, television, movies, sportsymeaky gaming and the Internet, are much largemaore well-established markets and may
be perceived by our players to offer greater varigffordability, interactivity and enjoyment. Theesther forms of entertainment compete for
the discretionary time and income of our playefrsud are unable to sustain sufficient interestun games in comparison to other forms of
entertainment, including new forms of entertainment business model may no longer be viable.

There are low barriers to entry in the social garimelustry, and competition is intense.*

The social game industry is highly competitive ,hwidw barriers to entry, and we expect more comgmto enter the sector and a wider
range of social games to be introduced. Our corngostihat develop social games for social netwweky in size and include publicly-traded
companies such as Electronic Arts Inc., DeNA Cd. bnd The Walt Disney Company and privately-helchpganies such as Crowdstar, Inc.,
Vostu, King.com and wooga GmbH. In addition, onlgane developers and distributors who are priméoitysed on specific international
markets, such as Tencent Holdings Limited in Aara] highprofile companies with significant online presentiest to date have not develoj
social games, such as Facebook, Google Inc. anthdift Corporation, may decide to develop sociahgg Some of these current and
potential competitors have significant resourcesifaveloping or acquiring additional games, maygble to incorporate their own strong
brands and assets into their games, have a maesdigd set of revenue sources than we do andbeagss severely affected by changes in
consumer preferences, regulations or other devedagsithat may impact the online social game ingluktraddition, we have limited
experience in developing games for mobile and gtteforms and our ability to succeed on thosefgiats is uncertain. As we continue to
devote significant resources to developing gamethfzse platforms, we will face significant compieti from established companies, incluc
Electronic Arts Inc., GREE International, Inc., D&ICo. Ltd., Gameloft SA, Glu Mobile Inc., DisneydRovio Mobile Ltd. We expect new
mobile-game competitors to enter the market anstiegi competitors to allocate more resources t@ldgvand market competing games and
applications.

The value of our virtual goods is highly dependeott how we manage the economies in our games. Iffaieto manage our game economi
properly, our business may suffe

Paying players purchase virtual goods in our gameeause of the perceived value of these goods vidhid&pendent on the relative ease
of securing an equivalent good via non-paid meattimthe game. The perceived value of these Vigoads can be impacted by an increase
in the availability of free or discounted Faceb@redits or by various actions that we take in thmgs including offering discounts for virtual
goods, giving away virtual goods in promotions miding easier non-paid means to secure thesesgdfode fail to manage our virtual
economies properly, players may be less likelyupase virtual goods and our business may suffer.

Some of our players may make sales and/or purchasfesrtual goods used in our games through unautiized third-party websites, which
may impede our revenue growth.

Some of our players may make sales and/or purcludses virtual goods, such @ynga Pokewirtual poker chips, through unauthorized
third-party sellers in exchange for real curreridyese unauthorized transactions are usually ardaogehird-party websites. We do not
generate any revenue from these transactions. dicgy, these unauthorized purchases and salesthimdiparty sellers could impede our
revenue and profit growth by, among other things:

» decreasing revenue from authorized transact

» creating downward pressure on the prices we chaeayers for our virtual currency and virtual goo
e causing us to lose revenue from paying players sthp playing a particular gam

e increasing costs we incur to develop technologivehsures to curtail unauthorized transacti

e generating legal claims relating to the diminutidrvalue of our virtual goods; ar

e increasing customer support costs to respond satissied players

To discourage unauthorized purchases and salag efrtual goods, we have stated in our terms ofise that the buying or selling of
virtual currency and virtual goods from unauthodizkird-party sellers may result in bans from camgs and/or legal
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action. We have banned players as a result of activities. We have also developed technologicasnees to help detect unauthorized
transactions. If we decide to implement furthetriesons on players’ ability to transfer virtuabgds, we may lose players, which could harm
our financial condition and results of operations.

The proliferation of “cheating” programs and scamffers that seek to exploit our games and playerteafs the game-playing experience
and may lead players to stop playing our games.

Unrelated third parties have developed, and magirnosmto develop, “cheating” programs that enaltdggrs to exploit our games, play
them in an automated way or obtain unfair advarstager other players who do play fairly. These paags harm the experience of players
who play fairly and may disrupt the virtual econoofyour games. In addition, unrelated third paritempt to scam our players with fake
offers for virtual goods. We devote significantaesces to discover and disable these programsdivitias, and if we are unable to do so
quickly our operations may be disrupted, our refiuiadamaged and players may stop playing our gafiés may lead to lost revenue from
paying players, increased cost of developing teldgical measures to combat these programs andtagjvegal claims relating to the
diminution in value of our virtual currency and gisgand increased customer service costs needesdpond to dissatisfied players.

Our quarterly operating results are volatile andfficult to predict, and our stock price may declinewe fail to meet the expectations of
securities analysts or investors

Our bookings, revenue, traffic and operating rastdtuld vary significantly from quarter-to-quaréard year-togear and may fail to mat
our past performance or the expectations of séesid@nalysts or investors because of a varietpabfs, some of which are outside of our
control. Any of these events could cause the markeg of our Class A common stock to fluctuatectbes that may contribute to the
variability of our operating results include thskrifactors listed in these “Risk Factors” and thetdrs discussed in the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€@ahdition and Results of Operations—Factors AffegtDur Performance.”

In particular, we recognize revenue from the séleuo virtual goods in accordance with U.S. GAAPieh is complex and based on our
assumptions and historical data with respect ta#he and use of various types of virtual goodshénevent that such assumptions are revisec
based on new data or there are changes in theib&@tmix of virtual goods sold due to new gameaddtctions, reduced virtual good sales in
existing games or other factors or there are claimgeur estimates of average playing periodsatheunt of revenue that we recognize in any
particular period may fluctuate significantly. Farther information regarding our revenue recogmitpolicy, see the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations—Critical Acctiug Policies—Revenue
Recognition” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K fbe year ended December 31, 2011.

Given our short operating history and the rapidlgleing social game industry, our historical opergtresults may not be useful in
predicting our future operating results. In addifimetrics we have developed or those availabla trord parties regarding our industry and
the performance of our games, including DAUs, MAM%JUs, MUPs and ABPU may not be indicative of omahcial performance.

We may be required to record impairment chargesatetl to our goodwill, intangible assets or othentplived assets if our market
capitalization declines below our net asset valugf@ur financial performance and/or condition detiorates.*

As of September 30, 2012, we had $737.4 milliogaddwill, intangible assets and other long-livesegs. If our market capitalization
declines below our net asset value or if our fimanmerformance and/or condition deteriorates, veg imave to impair our goodwill, intangible
assets or other long-lived assets, which could me¥eimpact our results of operations and finanmissition.

Failure to protect or enforce our intellectual pragty rights or the costs involved in such enforcembeould harm our business and
operating results.

We regard the protection of our trade secrets, Ggpts, trademarks, trade dress, domain names thed product rights as critical to our
success. We strive to protect our intellectual proprights by relying on federal, state and comi@nrights, as well as contractual
restrictions. We enter into confidentiality and émtion assignment agreements with our employeesamtdactors and confidentiality
agreements with parties with whom we conduct bussie order to limit access to, and disclosurews®lof, our proprietary information.
However, these contractual arrangements and tiee stips we have taken to protect our intelleqiuaberty may not prevent the
misappropriation of our proprietary informationdeter independent development of similar techne®giy others.

We pursue the registration of our domaimes, copyrights, trademarks, and service markseirunited States and in certain locations
outside the United States. We are seeking to protedrademarks, copyrights, patents and domaimessan an increasing number of
jurisdictions, a process that is expensive and-consuming and may not be successful or which wemoé pursue in every location. We may,
over time, increase our investment in protectingionovations through increased patent filings #ratexpensive and tineensuming and me
not result in issued patents that can be effestigaforced. The Leahy-Smith America Invents Aché't_eahy-Smith Act”) was adopted in
September 2011. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a rarabsignificant changes to United States pat@nt Including provisions that affect the
way patent applications will be prosecuted and alag affect patent litigation. The United StateseRand Trademark Office is currently
developing regulations and procedures to governradiration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of substantive changes to patent law
associated with the Lealgmith Act will not become effective until up to inths after its enactment. Accordingly, it is olear what, if any
impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operatof our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Adt imimplementation could increase
the uncertainties and costs surrounding the preéisecaf our patent applications and the enforcensemtefense of our issued patents, all of
which could harm our business.
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Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intéllatproperty rights, protect our trade secretdetermine the validity and scope of
proprietary rights claimed by others. Any litigatiof this nature, regardless of outcome or mewitila result in substantial costs, adverse
publicity or diversion of management and technieaburces, any of which could adversely affectbusiness and operating results. If we fail
to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectwaperty rights, our business and operating resuitg be harmed.

We are, and may in the future be, subject to inéellual property disputes, which are costly to defeand could require us to pay significant
damages and could limit our ability to use certaiechnologies in the future.

From time to time, we have faced, and we expefade in the future, allegations that we have infeid the trademarks, copyrights,
patents and other intellectual property rightsharftt parties, including from our competitors, npracticing entities and former employers of
personnel. Patent and other intellectual propéigation may be protracted and expensive, andehealts are difficult to predict. As the result
of any court judgment or settlement we may be albdig to cancel the launch of a new game, stopioffer game or certain features of a game
pay royalties or significant settlement costs, pase licenses or modify our games and featuregwigldevelop substitutes.

In addition, we use open source software in ouregaand expect to continue to use open source geffwshe future. From time to time,
we may face claims from companies that incorpospen source software into their products, claindngership of, or demanding release of,
the source code, the open source software andfivatiee works that were developed using such safyor otherwise seeking to enforce the
terms of the applicable open source license. Tbladms could also result in litigation, requiretogpurchase a costly license or require us to
devote additional research and development resetwoehange our games, any of which would havegathe effect on our business and
operating results.

Although we do not believe that the final outcoriégntellectual property litigation and claims tha¢ currently face will have a material
adverse effect on our business, our expectatiolysnoiaprove to be correct. Even if these matteraataesult in litigation or are resolved in
our favor or without significant cash settlememitgse matters, and the time and resources necdedaiyate or resolve them, could harm our
business, operating results, financial conditieputation or the market price of our Class A comrstock.

We are involved in legal proceedings that may resnladverse outcomes.*

We may be involved in claims, suits, governmengestigations, and proceedings arising from the agicourse of our business,
including actions with respect to intellectual pedy claims, privacy, data protection or law enéanent matters, tax matters, labor and
employment claims, commercial claims, as well asldtolder derivative actions, purported class adgovsuits, and other matters. Such
claims, suits, government investigations, and prdisegs are inherently uncertain and their resatsiot be predicted with certainty. Regarc
of the outcome, such legal proceedings can hawalaerse impact on us because of legal costs, @iveo§ management and other personnel,
and other factors. In addition, it is possible thaesolution of one or more such proceedings caddlt in liability, penalties, or sanctions, as
well as judgments, consent decrees, or orders ptiegeus from offering certain features, functiatie$, products, or services, or requiring a
change in our business practices, products or tdobies, which could in the future materially artversely affect our business, operating
results, and financial condition. See the sectitedt“Legal Matters” included in Note 12 — “Commiénts and Contingencies” in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements includedndigee in this Quarterly Report.

Programming errors or flaws in our games could haraur reputation or decrease market acceptance of games, which would harm ot
operating results.

Our games may contain errors, bugs, flaws or ceedugata, and these defects may only become agdtentheir launch, particularly
as we launch new games and rapidly release newrésato existing games under tight time constraivis believe that if our players have a
negative experience with our games, they may Iseifetined to continue or resume playing our ganragcommend our games to other
potential players. Undetected programming errcame defects and data corruption can disrupt ouatipas, adversely affect the game
experience of our players by allowing players tmgmfair advantage, harm our reputation, causeptayrers to stop playing our games, divert
our resources and delay market acceptance of onegiaany of which could result in legal liability is or harm our operating results.

Evolving regulations, industry standards and pramtis by platform providers concerning data privacuéd prevent us from providing ou
current games to our players, or require us to miydbur games, thereby harming our business.*

The regulatory framework for privacy issues worldevis currently in flux and is likely to remain f& the foreseeable future. Practices
regarding the collection, use, storage, transmisaial security of personal information by companesrating over the Internet and mobile
platforms are under increased public scrutiny, @will claims alleging liability for the breach ofith privacy have been asserted against us. Tl
U.S. government, including the Federal Trade Corsimis the Department of Commerce and the U.S. Gasgare continuing to review the
need for greater regulation for the collectionrdbrmation concerning consumer behavior on therhatie including regulation aimed at
restricting certain targeted advertising practidesddition, the European Union has proposed mefdo its existing data protection legal
framework, which may result in a greater compliabaaden for companies with users in Europe. Varigagernment and consumer agencies
have also called for new regulation and changé&sdinstry practices.
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We began operations in 2007 and have grown rapidhile our administrative systems have developedihg, during our earlier history
our practices relating to intellectual propertytadarivacy and security, and legal compliance mayhave been as robust as they are now, anc
there may be unasserted claims arising from thiegehat we are not able to anticipate. In additiour business, including our ability to
operate and expand internationally, could be aéleeffected if laws or regulations are adoptetknoreted, or implemented in a manner that
is inconsistent with our current business practared that require changes to these practices gbigrdof our website, games, features or our
privacy policy. In particular, the success of ousiness has been, and we expect will continue tdrden by our ability to responsibly use the
data that our players share with us. Thereforepasiness could be harmed by any significant chamggplicable laws, regulations or indus
practices or the requirements of platform providegarding the use or disclosure of data our pagkoose to share with us, or regarding the
manner in which the express or implied consenbokamers for such use and disclosure is obtaineth &hanges may require us to modify
our game features and advertising practices, plggsila material manner, and may limit our abilityuse the data that our players share with
us.

We process, store and use personal information atlder data, which subjects us to governmental regfidn and other legal obligations
related to privacy, and our actual or perceivedltae to comply with such obligations could harm obwusiness.

We receive, store and process personal informatiohother player data, and we enable our playesBdre their personal information
with each other and with third parties, includingtbe Internet and mobile platforms. There are nmoosefederal, state and local laws around
the world regarding privacy and the storing, sh@rirse, processing, disclosure and protection kdfgoal information and other player data on
the Internet and mobile platforms, the scope ofcWlaire changing, subject to differing interpretagicand may be inconsistent between
countries or conflict with other rules. We generalbmply with industry standards and are subjethéoterms of our own privacy policies and
privacy-related obligations to third parties (indilog voluntary third-party certification bodies suas TRUSTe). We strive to comply with all
applicable laws, policies, legal obligations andaia industry codes of conduct relating to privaty data protection, to the extent reasonabl
attainable. However, it is possible that thesegattions may be interpreted and applied in a mattratiis inconsistent from one jurisdiction to
another and may conflict with other rules or owgpices. Any failure or perceived failure by ustmply with our privacy policies, our
privacy-related obligations to players or otherdiparties, or our privacy-related legal obligaipar any compromise of security that results ir
the unauthorized release or transfer of persoiddigtifiable information or other player data, magult in governmental enforcement actions,
litigation or public statements against us by comsuadvocacy groups or others and could causelayens to lose trust in us, which could
have an adverse effect on our business. Additipni&tthird parties we work with, such as playarsndors or developers, violate applicable
laws or our policies, such violations may also quit players’ information at risk and could in turave an adverse effect on our business.

In the area of information security and data priod@c many states have passed laws requiring oatifin to players when there is a
security breach for personal data, such as the 26@&hdment to California’s Information Practiceg,A¢ requiring the adoption of minimum
information security standards that are often vigdefined and difficult to practically implemerfthe costs of compliance with these laws
increase in the future as a result of changestémpretation. Furthermore, any failure on our partomply with these laws may subject us to
significant liabilities.

Our business is subject to a variety of other Ua®d foreign laws, many of which are unsettled antillsleveloping and which could subject
us to claims or otherwise harm our business.*

We are subject to a variety of laws in the Unit¢at& and abroad, including laws regarding consymection, intellectual property,
export and national security, that are continuoesiglving and developing. The scope and interpcetaif the laws that are or may be
applicable to us are often uncertain and may béicting, particularly laws outside the United Stat For example, laws relating to the liability
of providers of online services for activities béir users and other third parties are currentigdhtested by a number of claims, including
actions based on invasion of privacy and othestantfair competition, copyright and trademarkimgement, and other theories based on the
nature and content of the materials searched db@asted or the content provided by users. Isis likely that as our business grows and
evolves and our games are played in a greater nuofilseuntries, we will become subject to laws aegulations in additional jurisdictions.
We are potentially subject to a number of foreigd domestic laws and regulations that affect thieriig of certain types of content, such as
that which depicts violence, many of which are agubus, still evolving and could be interpreted awyw that could harm our business or
expose us to liability. In addition, certain of @ames, includingynga Poker may become subject to gambling-related rulesragdlations
and expose us to civil and criminal penalties ifdeenot comply. It is difficult to predict how exiisg laws will be applied to our business and
the new laws to which we may become subject.

If we are not able to comply with these laws orutations or if we become liable under these lawsegulations, we could be directly
harmed, and we may be forced to implement new measa reduce our exposure to this liability. Timiay require us to expend substantial
resources or to modify our games, which would haumbusiness, financial condition and results afrafions. In addition, the increased
attention focused upon liability issues as a resiulhwsuits and legislative proposals could hammreputation or otherwise impact the growth
of our business. Any costs incurred as a resuhisfpotential liability could harm our businesslaperating results.
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It is possible that a number of laws and regulatioray be adopted or construed to apply to us itJtlieed States and elsewhere that
could restrict the online and mobile industrieguidling player privacy, advertising, taxation, eamtsuitability, copyright, distribution and
antitrust. Furthermore, the growth and developro¢electronic commerce and virtual goods may procafls for more stringent consumer
protection laws that may impose additional burdamsompanies such as ours conducting businessgthitbie Internet and mobile devices. '
anticipate that scrutiny and regulation of our isiy will increase and we will be required to devtigal and other resources to addressing
regulation. For example, existing laws or new laegarding the regulation of currency and bankirggiintions may be interpreted to cover
virtual currency or goods. If that were to occurmvay be required to seek licenses, authorizatioagprovals from relevant regulators, the
granting of which may be dependent on us meetingicecapital and other requirements and we magubgect to additional regulation and
oversight, all of which could significantly increaeur operating costs. Changes in current lawsgulations or the imposition of new laws anc
regulations in the United States or elsewhere tigarthese activities may lessen the growth ofa@ame services and impair our business.

Companies and governmental agencies may restrictesss to Facebook, our website or the Internet getigr which could lead to the loss «
slower growth of our player bas

Our players need to access the Internet and ircpkat Facebook and our website to play our gaif@esipanies and governmental
agencies could block access to Facebook, our veetusthe Internet generally for a number of reasuth as security or confidentiality
concerns or regulatory reasons, or they may aduftigs that prohibit employees from accessing Baok, our website or other social
platforms. For example, the government of the REsgitepublic of China has blocked access to FadeimoGhina. If companies or
governmental entities block or limit access to ack or our website or otherwise adopt policiesrieting players from playing our games
business could be negatively impacted and coultiiedhe loss or slower growth of our player base.

Our business will suffer if we are unable to sucsédly integrate acquired companies into our bussgor otherwise manage the growth
associated with multiple acquisitions.*

We have acquired businesses, personnel and tegfie®io the past and we intend to continue to etaland pursue acquisitions and
strategic investments that are complementary t@wisting business and expand our employee basthariteadth of our offerings. Our abi
to grow through future acquisitions will dependtba availability of suitable acquisition and invasint candidates at an acceptable cost, our
ability to compete effectively to attract these didates and the availability of financing to comepliarger acquisitions. Additional challenges
and risks include:

» significant competition from other game companieshe social game industry consolida

» the need to integrate the operations, systemsntémgies, products and personnel of each acquoatpany, the inefficiencies and
lack of control that may result if such integratisrdelayed or not implemented, and unforeseeicditfes and expenditures that
may arise in connection with integratic

» diversion of our managems's attention away from our business and any diffiesilencountered in the integration proci

» declining employee morale and retention issuedtiegurom changes in, or acceleration of, comp&nsaor changes in
management, reporting relationships, or future peots;

* the need to implement controls, procedures anaipslappropriate for a larger public company atganes that prior to
acquisition had lacked such controls, procedurdspaficies;

» risks associated with our expansion into new irggomal markets and doing business internationaltuding those described
under the risk factor caption “Expansion into inggional markets is important for our growth, asdwe expand internationally, we
will face additional business, political, regulatooperational, financial and economic risks, ahwhbich could increase our costs
and hinder such grow” elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Forn-Q;

* in the case of foreign acquisitions, the need tegrate operations across different cultures anguages and to address the
particular economic, currency, political and regog risks associated with specific countri

» in some cases, the need to transition operatiothplayers onto our existing or new platforms arelgbtential loss of, or harm to,
our relationships with employees, players and asepliers as a result of integration of new bussies; an

» liability for activities of the acquired companyfbee the acquisition, including intellectual progyeand other litigation claims or
disputes, information security vulnerabilities, leitions of laws, rules and regulations, commemgigputes, tax liabilities and other
known and unknown liabilities
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The benefits of an acquisition or investment mayp ahke considerable time to develop, and we camnaertain that any particular
acquisition or investment will produce the intendkeshefits, which could adversely affect our bussresd operating results. Acquisitions could
result in potential dilutive issuances of equitgeities, use of significant cash balances or irenae of debt (and increased interest expense)
contingent liabilities or amortization expenseatedl to intangible assets or write-offs of goodaiit/or intangible assets, which could
adversely affect our results of operations andelithe economic and voting rights of our stockhaddEor example, in the third quarter of
2012, we made the decision to discontinue the dewedént of certain games associated with technamglyother intangible assets previously
acquired from OMGPOP and we recorded an asset impat charge of $95.5 million. See Note 6 — “Goddarnd Other Intangible Assets” in
the notes to the consolidated financial statemiaentaded elsewhere in this Quarterly Report for enimformation.

Failure in pursuing or executing new business irgtiives could have a material adverse impact on business and future growth.*

Our growth strategy includes evaluating, considgend effectively executing new business initiajwehich can be difficult.
Management may not properly ascertain or assesisiteeof new initiatives, and subsequent eventg att@r the risks that were evaluated at
the time we decided to execute any new initiatisgtering into any new initiatives can also divaert management’s attention from other
business issues and opportunities. Failure to ffdg identify, pursue and execute new businegmtives, including real money gambling as
discussed below, may adversely affect our reputabasiness, financial condition and results ofrapens. We believe real money gambling
could have risks that are different than thoseaated with other new initiatives. In particulaeat money gambling is subject to stringent,
complicated and rapidly changing licensing and l&guy requirements, both federally and in eactestas well as internationally. Regulatory
and legislative developments may prevent or sigaifily limit our ability to enter into or succeedreal money gambling, even if we pursue it.
Becoming familiar with and complying with these u@g@ments will increase our costs and subject ogirtess to greater scrutiny by regulators
in many different jurisdictions. If our brand becesmassociated with real money gambling we maydasent players, advertisers or partners
or have difficulty attracting new players, advests or partners, which could adversely impact ausiress.

We have begun efforts to expand our business todaaeal money gambling and in October 2012, wered into a partnership
agreement with bwin.party digital entertainment pléeading international real money gambling oferao develop, test and operate certain
real money online poker and casino games in théedidingdom. This is our first experience with readney gambling and we cannot assure
you that these preliminary efforts will be succabsf result in the development or timely launchredl money gambling products, if at all,
ultimately produce any revenue. In addition, efema ultimately do launch real money gambling pradyif we or our partners fail to comply
with regulatory requirements, or if players areslsatisfied than expected with the games providednay not benefit from this line of
business, we may lose players and we may curtagforts to enter the real money gambling market.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates Waffect our financial results, which we report ib).S. dollars.

As we continue to expand our international operatiove become more exposed to the effects of fitictos in currency exchange rates.
We incur expenses for employee compensation aret offerating expenses at our non-U.S. locatiotiseiocal currency, and an increasing
percentage of our international revenue is fronygaig.who pay us in currencies other than the Ward Fluctuations in the exchange rates
between the U.S. dollar and those other currerogiakl result in the dollar equivalent of such exg@nbeing higher and/or the dollar equive
of such foreigrdenominated revenue being lower than would be dise & exchange rates were stable. This could hanegative impact on ¢
reported operating results.

The enactment of legislation implementing changestihe U.S. taxation of international business adties or the adoption of other tax
reform policies could materially impact our finanal position and results of operations.

The current administration has made public statésriedicating that it has made international tdema a priority, and key members of
the U.S. Congress have conducted hearings and ggdpeew legislation. Recent changes to U.S. tag,lawluding limitations on the ability
taxpayers to claim and utilize foreign tax creditsl the deferral of certain tax deductions untihgs outside of the United States are
repatriated to the United States, as well as chatigl.S. tax laws that may be enacted in the éyttwuld impact the tax treatment of our
foreign earnings. Due to the large and expandiatpsaf our international business activities, ahgrges in the U.S. taxation of such activities
may increase our worldwide effective tax rate aadrhour financial position and results of operagion

A change in the application of the tax laws of vautis jurisdictions could result in an increase to pworldwide effective tax rate and
change in how we operate our business.

Our corporate structure and intercompany arrang&neriuding the manner in which we develop anel mgr intellectual property and
the transfer pricing of our intercompany transawijare intended to provide us worldwide tax efficies. The application of the tax laws of
various jurisdictions, including the United Stat@sour international business activities is subjednterpretation and depends on our ability tc
operate our business in a manner consistent witeayorate structure and intercompany arrangem&htstaxing authorities of the
jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge m@thodologies for valuing developed technologintercompany arrangements, includ
our transfer pricing, or determine that the mannevhich we operate our business is not consistéthtthe manner in which we report our
income to the jurisdictions, which could increase worldwide effective tax rate and harm our finahposition and results of operations.
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Our facilities are located near known earthquakeuia zones, and the occurrence of an earthquake t¢her natural disaster could cause
damage to our facilities and equipment, which couleljuire us to curtail or cease operations.

Our principal offices and network operations centae located in the San Francisco Bay Area, amkarewn for earthquakes, and are
thus vulnerable to damage. We are also vulnerald@amage from other types of disasters, includmgeay loss, fire, explosions, floods,
communications failures, terrorist attacks and lsimévents. If any disaster were to occur, ouritgitib operate our business at our facilities
could be impaired.

We may require additional capital to meet our finaial obligations and support business growth, arrdst capital might not be available on
acceptable terms or at all.

We intend to continue to make significant investtegn support our business growth and may requidétianal funds to respond to
business challenges, including the need to devetepgames and features or enhance our existingggamgrove our operating infrastructure
or acquire complementary businesses, personndkahdologies. Accordingly, we may need to engagainity or debt financings to secure
additional funds. If we raise additional funds tigb future issuances of equity or convertible delourities, our existing stockholders could
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity geties we issue could have rights, preferencespaivileges superior to those of holders of
Class A common stock. Any debt financing that weuse in the future could involve restrictive covetsarelating to our capital raising
activities and other financial and operational m&ttwhich may make it more difficult for us to aiot additional capital and to pursue busines:
opportunities, including potential acquisitions. Way not be able to obtain additional financingenms favorable to us, if at all. If we are
unable to obtain adequate financing or financingesms satisfactory to us when we require it, dailityg to continue to support our business
growth and to respond to business challenges dmkignificantly impaired, and our business mapéened.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock

The three class structure of our common stock hhs effect of concentrating voting control with thestockholders who held our stock pr
to our initial public offering, including our founder and Chief Executive Officer and our other exetg officers, employees and directors
and their affiliates; this limits our other stockHders’ ability to influence corporate matters.*

Our Class C common stock has 70 votes per shar€lass B common stock has seven votes per shdreurClass A common stock
has one vote per share. Mark Pincus, our Chief lgkaxOfficer, beneficially owned approximately 58%the total voting power of our
outstanding capital stock as of September 30, 2842 result, Mark Pincus has significant influeneer the management and affairs of the
company and control over matters requiring stoaéoapproval, including the election of directonsl gignificant corporate transactions, suct
as a merger or other sale of our company or owt&dsglr. Pincus may hold this voting power for theeseeable future, subject to additional
issuances of stock by the company or sales or isesrby Mr. Pincus. This concentrated voting cddimats the ability of our other
stockholders to influence corporate matters anddcadversely affect the market price of our Classofnmon stock.

Future transfers or sales by holders of Class Bneomstock or Class C common stock will result iosa shares converting to Class A
common stock, which will have the effect, over tjm&increasing the relative voting power of theseckholders who retain their existing
shares of Class B or Class C common stock. Iniaddias shares of Class B common stock are traesfer sold and converted to Class A
common stock, the sole holder of Class C commarkstdark Pincus, will have greater relative votecuntrol to the extent he retains his
existing shares of Class C common stock, and asute could in the future control a majorityooi total voting power. Mark Pincus is
entitled to vote his shares in his own interestsrmay do so.

Certain provisions in our charter documents and ueidDelaware law could limit attempts by our stocktiers to replace or remove our
board of directors or current management and lintite market price of our Class A common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation dmdaws may have the effect of delaying or prevanthanges in our board of directors ol
management. Our certificate of incorporation anldyg include provisions that:

» establish an advance notice procedure for stockhgqitbposals to be brought before an annual meetiolding proposed
nominations of persons for election to our boardiodctors;

« prohibit cumulative voting in the election of ditecs; anc
» reflect three classes of common stock, as disclaisede.
These provisions may frustrate or prevent any aiteriny our stockholders to replace or remove oueotl management by making it
more difficult for stockholders to replace membefrour board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our
management. In addition, because we are incorgbnatBelaware, we are governed by the provisionSegftion 203 of the Delaware General

Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delagvaorporation from engaging in any of a broad eaofjbusiness combinations with any
“interested” stockholder for a period of three yefmlowing the date on which the stockholder beeam “interested” stockholder.

Our share price has been and will likely continue be volatile.*

The trading price of our Class A common stock heenband is likely to continue to be, highly vdatnd could be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to various factors, sometich are beyond our control. Since shares of@ass A common stock
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were sold in our initial public offering in Decemt®2011 at a price of $10.00 per share, through std5, 2012, our stock price has ranged
from $2.21 to $15.91. In addition to the factorscdissed in these “Risk Factors” and elsewherdsrQbarterly Report on Form 10-Q, factors
that may cause volatility in our share price inelud

» changes in projected operational and financialltgs

» issuance of new or updated research or reportediyities analyst:

» market rumors or press repol

* announcements related to our stock repurchasegmm

» the use by investors or analysts of t-party data regarding our business that may nateediur actual performanc
« fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceilsg investors to be comparable to

» the activities, public announcements and finanméaformance of our commercial partners, such ash&ak;

« fluctuations in the trading volume of our sharasthe size of our public float relative to the tatamber of shares of our Class A,
Class B and Class C common stock that are issukdw@standing

» share price and volume fluctuations attributablmtonsistent trading volume levels of our shaaest
» general economic and market conditic

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencedragtprice and volume fluctuations that have adig@end continue to affect the
market prices of equity securities of many companidese fluctuations often have been unrelatetisproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. These broad mankkeindustry fluctuations, as well as general eotinppolitical and market conditions
such as recessions, interest rate changes oratitamal currency fluctuations, may negatively imphe market price of our Class A common
stock. In the past, companies that have experienaiadility in the market price of their stock halveen subject to securities class action
litigation. We may be the target of this type diglation in the future. Securities litigation agstimis could result in substantial costs and divert
our management’s attention from other businessearois¢ which could harm our business.

In addition, in October 2012, we announced thatBaard of Directors authorized us to repurchaso$200 million of our Class A
common stock. The timing and amount of any sharandhases will be determined based on market dondijtshare price and other factors.
The program does not require us to repurchaseagife number of shares of our Class A commonkstand may be modified, suspended or
terminated at any time without notice. The shapairehase program will be funded from existing casthand. Repurchases of our Class A
common stock in the open market could result indased volatility in our stock price.

Our Class A common stock price may be volatile do¢hird-party data regarding our games.

Third parties, such as AppData, publish daily ddteut us and other social game companies with cesp®AUs and MAUs and other
information concerning social game usage, in paldgicon Facebook. These metrics can be volatilgicpéarly for specific games, and in ma
cases do not accurately reflect the actual levialsage of our games across all platforms and magarrelate to our bookings or revenue fi
the sale of virtual goods. There is a possibiligttthird parties could change their methodolofpesalculating these metrics in the future. To
the extent that securities analysts or investose Iltiaeir views of our business or prospects on thidt-party data, the price of our Class A
common stock may be volatile and may not refleetghrformance of our business.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch about our business, or publish negativeasp about our business, our share pri
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stoclsdme extent, depends on the research and repattseicurities or industry analysts
publish about our business. We do not have any@omer these analysts. If one or more of the ystalwho cover us downgrade our share
lower their opinion of our shares, our share pwoaild likely decline. If one or more of these arsd$ycease coverage of our company or fail tc
regularly publish reports on us, we could losehiiigy in the financial markets, which could cawsg share price or trading volume to decline.

Future sales or potential sales of our Class A commstock in the public market could cause our shgréce to decline.*

If the existing holders of our Class B common stpakticularly our directors and officers, sell eg@number of shares, they could adversely
affect the market price for our Class A common lst&ales of substantial amounts of our Class A comatock in the public market, or the
perception that these sales could occur, couldecnessmarket price of our Class A common stocketdide.
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If we are unable to implement and maintain effeatiinternal control over financial reporting in théuture, the accuracy and timeliness
our financial reporting may be adversely affected.

If we are unable to maintain adequate internalrodsfor financial reporting in the future, or ifipauditors are unable to express an
opinion as to the effectiveness of our internaltoma as required pursuant to the SarbaDekey Act, investor confidence in the accuracy of
financial reports may be impacted or the marketepaf our Class A common stock could be negatiiapacted.

The requirements of being a public company may straur resources, divert management’s attention aafflect our ability to attract and
retain qualified board members.

We are subject to the reporting requirements obeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,e0E#thange Act, the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirents of the NASDAQ Global Select Market and othmpli@able securities rules and
regulations. Compliance with these rules and regula has increased and will continue to increasdegal and financial compliance costs,
make some activities more difficult, time-consumargcostly and increase demand on our systemsesudirces. The Exchange Act requires,
among other things, that we file annual, quartarg current reports with respect to our businedsogerating results.

As a result of disclosure of information in this@terly Report on Form 1@-and in our other public filings with the SEC aguired of ¢
public company, our business and financial conditiave become more visible, which we believe mayltén threatened or actual litigation,
including by competitors and other third partiésuch claims are successful, our business andtipgresults could be harmed, and even if
the claims do not result in litigation or are resal in our favor, these claims, and the time asdugces necessary to resolve them, could dive
the resources of our management and harm our ksssamel operating results.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foresededture.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock and do not intend to pay ank dasdends in the foreseeable
future. Any determination to pay dividends in théufe will be at the discretion of our board ofeditors. Accordingly, investors must rely on
sales of their Class A common stock after priceragiption, which may never occur, as the only wagetlize any future gains on their
investments.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

In September 2012, we issued approximately 3.2anikhares of our Class A Common Stock to the twokholders of A Bit Lucky,
Inc., in exchange for all of the outstanding cdtack of A Bit Lucky, in connection with the adgition of A Bit Lucky pursuant to the
Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganizatioeddas of September 17, 2012. This issuance waseatt® be exempt from the
registration requirement of the Securities Act 883, as amended (the “Securities Act”), pursuar@dotion 4(2) under the Securities Act as a
transaction by an issuer not involving any pubffeiing. The recipients of the unregistered se@sitvere provided access to all material
information, requested, and all information necgstaverify such information and were afforded @&xto our management in connection
the purchases. The recipients of the unregistaredrgies acquired such securities for investmadtraot with a view toward distribution,
acknowledging such intent to us. All certificatesagreements representing such securities thatigs&wed contained restrictive legends,
prohibiting further transfer of the certificatesagreements representing such securities, withamlt securities either being first registered or
otherwise exempt from registration in any furthesale or disposition.

Use of Proceeds

On December 15, 2011, our registration statemeiftosm S-1 (File No. 33375298) was declared effective for our initial paldffering
pursuant to which we sold 100,000,000 shares afsCAacommon stock at a public offering price of 00per share for an aggregate offering
price of $1.0 billion. Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC a@bldman, Sachs & Co. acted as joint book runniagagers and representatives of the
underwriters for the offering, BofA Merrill LynctiBarclays Capital Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securitie€ ldcted as additional joint book running
managers, and Allen & Company LLC acted as serdemanager for the offering.

As a result of our initial public offering, we réeed net proceeds of $961.4 million, after dedugtimderwriting discounts and
commissions and other offering expenses. Noneséxpenses associated with the initial public affewere paid to directors, officers or
persons owning ten percent or more of our commacksir to their associates, or to our affiliates.
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We intend to use the net proceeds to us from itialipublic offering for general corporate purpsscluding working capital, game
development, marketing activities and capital exiitemes. In addition, we may use a portion of thecpeds from the initial public offering for
acquisitions of or investments in complementaryiresses, technologies or other assets. As of SépteBd, 2012, the net offering proceeds
have been invested in money market funds, debuim&nts of the U.S. government and its agenciesayidcredit quality corporate issuers.
There has been no material change in the planredfysroceeds from our initial public offering assdribed in our final prospectus filed with
the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) on December 161.201

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index (followirige signature pages of this Quarterly Reportfibre with, or incorporated by reference
in, this Quarterly Report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly causisdibarterly Report on Form 1Q-tc
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thecedmly authorized, in the City of San Franciscat& of California, on October 26, 2012.

Z YNGA | NC.

By: /s/ David M. Wehner
David M. Wehner
Chief Financial Officer
(On behalf of Registran

By: /s/ Mark Vranesh
Mark Vranesh
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer
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